
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 20 September 2021.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Environment 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Tuesday, 28 September 2021 at 10.30 am 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor Gloria Johnson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor John Cottier, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor 
Dean Ward and Councillor Hannah Westropp 
 

 

Agenda 
 

1.   Comments from Members of the public 
To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s discretion. 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 8 June 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 7) 

5.   Updates from the previous meeting 
 

(Pages 9 - 10) 

6.   Update on tree planting ambitions 
This report provides an overview of tree planting activities within South 
Kesteven.  It also provides an update and sets out options in relation to 
the ambitions that emerged from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee discussion on the 8 June 2021. 

(Pages 11 - 24) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

7.   Climate & Carbon dashboard 2020/21 
South Kesteven District Council made a formal declaration of climate 
emergency on 26 September 2019 with cross party support. Members are 
asked to note the contents of the Annual Summary for the Council’s 
Carbon Footprint for 2021/22.  
 

(Pages 25 - 31) 

8.   Climate Matters annual report 
To consider contents of the draft Climate Matters annual climate change 
and carbon report. 
 

(Pages 33 - 43) 

9.   Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme update 
This report provides an update on the Council’s work on the Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme grant funding offer. 
 

(Pages 45 - 52) 

10.   Health and Safety Policy 
This report presents the updated Health and Safety Policy. This updated 
policy ensures compliance with the Council’s legal duties and covers the 
period 2021-23. The Council’s Health and Safety Policy is its statement of 
intent and commitment to managing any risk that may arise from its 
undertakings 
 

(Pages 53 - 73) 

11.   Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement 2021-22 
This report presents the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 
Enforcement for 2021-22. 
 

(Pages 75 - 95) 

12.   Work Programme 
To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2021/22. 
 

(Pages 97 - 100) 

13.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, decides 
is urgent 
 

 



 
 

ACTION NOTES 
 

Meeting of the 
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Tuesday, 8 June 2021, 10.30 am 

 

 

Council Chamber, South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Committee members present 
 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor Gloria Johnson (Vice- Chairman) 
 
Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor John Cottier 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Hilary Westropp  
 
Members in attendance 
 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations) 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
 
Officers in attendance 
 
Gary Smith (Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations) 
Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive) 
Ben Russel (Performance Lead) 
Serena Brown (Sustainability and Climate Change Officer) 
Jack Gardner-Javid (Democratic Officer) 
 

 

1.  Comments from Members of the public 
 

No comments were received 
 

2. Apologies for absence 
 

Members noted that Councillor Dean Ward had been substituted by Councillor Bob 
Adams and Councillor Hannah Westropp had been substituted by Councillor Hilary 
Westropp, for this meeting only.   

 
All other Committee Members were present. 

3

Agenda Item 4



 
 

 
3.  Disclosure of Interests 

 
There were none. 

 
4.  Action Notes from the meeting held on 26 January 2021 

 
Members agreed the Action Notes of the meeting held on 26 January 2021, as a 
correct record.  

 
5.  Updates from the previous meeting 

 
Members noted the updates from the previous meeting, held on 26 January 2021. 

 
6.  Trees in South Kesteven 

Aveland Trees Ltd 

The Chairman introduced Hugh Dorrington, Aveland Trees to the Committee.  Mr 
Dorrington spoke about the work of Aveland trees, as a plant nursery for woodland 
planting and the creation of hedgerows.  The Committee heard of the opportunity 
for woodlands that could be established on smaller agricultural fields that were 
currently funded by a Central Government Grant but are not suited for modern 
farming machinery. The Grant was set to end in 5 years, it would be able to provide 
the opportunity for areas like Ropsley, to create woodlands to separate residents 
and farmers, providing a benefit to both.  
 
The committee received a presentation on a Woodland in Dunsby. The presentation 
noted that the layout of woodland could be designed to allow for easy maintenance, 
whilst at ground level appearing to have natural spacing between trees.  Members 
were invited to examine the work of Aveland Nursery.   
 
Members questioned the scale and density of tree planting that could take place.  
They were advised that 1600 trees per hectare with 2 ½ metre spacing between 
trees, was the most. Members discussed the need for tree planting meeting local 
conditions, that a mix of woodlands and smaller scale tree planting would be best 
suited to the area.   
 
Woodland Trust 

 
The Chairman invited the Regional Officer from the Woodland Trust to provide a 
Presentation to the Committee. The Officer spoke of the history of the Woodland 
Trust with the headquarters being based within Grantham.  The Woodland Trust 
had worked extensively in partnership with both the public and private sector. The 
committee examined the Woodland Trust’s work with Sheffield Council, after the 
removal of 5000 healthy mature trees, they helped with the creation of a Street Tree 
Strategy and a Wide Woodlands Strategy.    
 

4



 
 

The officer spoke of the Climate Emergency, Biodiversity Emergency and the 
Covid-19 pandemic and the ways that tree planting could help by capturing carbon, 
providing a habitat and a place for the local community to enjoy.  The Woodland 
Trust had created an Emergency Tree Fund which provided funding for 
organisations like local authorities.  

 
A Member queried what work had taken place in protecting ancient woodland and 
trees, where planning applications would potentially endanger them. The Officer 
advised that this could be challenge.  The Woodland Trust were not statutory 
consultees for Planning Application, they relied on the work of Councillors and 
members of the public in bringing these applications to their attention.  
 
The Committee spoke of the Design Code adopted by the Council and expressed 
an interest in the Woodland Trust informing them how other councils were planning 
on managing their maintenance costs in managing an increasing number of trees.  
A member expressed their interest in considering if this should form Part of the 
Council’s Planning Policy and mandate a set percentage of tree coverage in large 
developments.  
 
The committee discussed the Councils Policy around Tree Protection Orders and 
questioned if it should be altered from one sapling being planted, to a larger number 
of saplings, after the loss of a mature tree. The Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations confirmed that this could be underpinned by Council Policy.  
 
Members discussed their ambitions for tree planting and for memorial tree planting.  
It was noted that Council Budgets and land availability were limited, which would 
impact on the Council’s opportunities for tree planting. The Committee agreed that 
Parish or Town Councils should be encouraged to plant trees. such organisations 
may have greater agility to act in this area. 
 
The Committee were advised that a Parliamentary Committee had published on a 
report on Climate Change, the UK would need to plant 80 million trees per annum, 
until 2040, to combat the Climate Crisis. 
 
Possible recommendations were discussed by Members; that would ensure 
effective and appropriate steps would be made to develop policy and ensure tree 
planting. Members debated if it was suitable to ask Cabinet to consider the creation 
of a Budget for tree planting, or if the Committee could request for suitable sites to 
be located in the same way they had requested land for rewilding.  
 
ACTIONS: 

1. That Officers examine practical/tangible proposals to increase speed 

and scale of tree planting with partners including Lincolnshire County 

Council, The National Farmers Union and Parish Councils 

2. Officers seek to identify four sites and make proposals for additional 

trees to be planted (with costs). 

5



 
 

3. To continue a positive working relationship with the Woodland Trust. 

 
7.  DEFRA: Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling 

in England 
 

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations gave an analysis of The 
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) recent Consultation 
and how the proposals could have an impact on the Councils waste collection and 
Budgets.  
 
The Cabinet Member outlined the key areas that would be affected the most. The 
Committee was informed of the proposal to extend food waste collection across the 
country from 2023/2024 and that South Kesteven District Council, with its own food 
waste trials already taking place, were at an advantage compared to many other 
authorities.  
 
It was highlighted to the Committee the that Green Waste collections may be 
required to move to a free service, which would have a considerable impact on 
Council Budgets.   
 
Members discussed the future of waste collection and the possibilities of a ‘pay as 
you throw’ model being adopted in the future but agreed that such a model would 
require intervention from Central Government to assist with the Capital costs for 
equipment needed to adopt such a model.  
 
The Cabinet member encouraged the Committee and as individual Members to 
take part in the consultation.  The Chairman requested that Committee members 
take time to review the consultations and forward any ideas or concerns to her, so 
that a joint response from the Committee could be submitted.    
 
The Chairman requested the Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations 
distribute samples from the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership’s response to 
Committee members. 

 
ACTIONS:  
 
4. That Committee members take time to review the consultation and 

forward any ideas or concerns to the Chairman, so that a joint response 
from the Committee be submitted. 

 
5. The Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations to send the 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnerships response to the Committee. 
 

8.  Corporate Plan - Key Performance Indicators 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive introduced an update to the Key Performance 
Indicators.  
 

6



 
 

It was noted that some data which informed the report had been collected from 
external sources, on an annual basis, which meant that some indicators were from 
the previous Quarter.  
 
Members discussed the presentation and made suggestions as to how it could be 
improved.  

 
9.  Climate Change Update 

 
The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer informed the Committee of the work 
around the key climate change actions and provided an update on the work of the 
Climate Change Task and Finish Group.  
 
The Committee were updated on the Group’s success in securing a budget for the 
next 2 financial years and that the Council has received Grant Funding for the 
improvements of 4 key Council owned sites, to improves their Carbon efficiency.  
The works would begin as soon as possible, before the March 2022 deadline set by 
the Grant.  
 
Members queried the Climate Change Budget and heard that the climate change 
task and finish group could examine proposals to utilise that budget. A Member 
noted advances in technology that allowed for greater efficiency and gave the 
example of modern street lighting, which would allow the Council to gain in 
efficiency.  

 
10.  Work Programme 2021/22 

 
The Chairman Invited the Committee to consider items for the Work Programme.   

 
ACTION:  
 
6. Members requested that the following items be added to the Work 

Programme:  
 

• Bourne cycling festival update – Date to be agreed. 

• Plans for tree planting in South Kesteven – 28 September 2021 

• Annual Climate report – 28 September 2021 

• Biodiversity in council parks and looking at the use of contractors in 
relation to this –Date to be agreed.  
 

11.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, 
decides is urgent 

 
There was none.  

 
12.  Close of meeting 

 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 13:06.  

 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



Action Sheet 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 8 June 2021 

Min 
no 

Agenda item Action Assigned to Comments/Status Deadline 

6 Trees in South 
Kesteven 

1. That Officers examine 
practical/tangible proposals to 
increase speed and scale of tree 
planting with partners including 
Lincolnshire County Council, The 
National Farmers Union and 
Parish Councils 

 
 
2. Officers seek to identify four sites 

and make proposals for 
additional trees to be planted 
(with costs). 

 
3. To continue a positive working 

relationship with the Woodland 
Trust. 

 

Serena Brown 
(Sustainability 
and Climate 
Change Officer) 
 
 
 

 
Serena Brown 
(Sustainability 
and Climate 
Change Officer) 
 
Serena Brown  
(Sustainability 
and Climate 
Change Officer) 

Update report on the agenda of 
28/9/21 Environment OSC. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Update report on the agenda of 
28/9/21 Environment OSC. 
 
 
 
Update report on the agenda of 
28/9/21 Environment OSC. 

COMPLETE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
COMPLETE 
 
 
 
 
COMPLETE 
 
 

7 Defra: 
Consultation 
on consistency 
in household 
and business 
recycling in 
England 

4. That Committee members take 
time to review the consultation 
and forward any ideas or 
concerns to the Chairman, so 
that a joint response from the 
Committee be submitted. 

 

5. The Strategic Director, Commercial 
and Operations to send the 

The Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gary Smith 
(Strategic 

A consultation response was 
submitted to Defra. 
 
 
 
 
 

Circulated to the Committee on the 
22/6/21. 

COMPLETE 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLETE 

9

A
genda Item

 5



Min 
no 

Agenda item Action Assigned to Comments/Status Deadline 

partnerships response to the 
Committee. 

Director, 
Commercial and 
Operations) 

10 Work 
Programme 
2021/22 

6. Members requested that the 
following items be added to the 
Work Programme:  

 

• Bourne cycling festival update – 
Date to be agreed. 

• Plans for tree planting in South 
Kesteven – 28 September 2021 

• Annual Climate report – 28 
September 2021 

• Biodiversity in council parks and 
looking at the use of contractors 
in relation to this –Date to be 
agreed. 

Democratic 
Services  

Added to the Committee’s Work 
Programme  

COMPLETE 

 

10



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

28 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Update on tree planting ambitions 

This report provides an overview of tree planting activities within South Kesteven.  It also provides 
an update and sets out options in relation to the ambitions that emerged from the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee discussion on the 8 June 2021. 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

 
01476 406125 

 serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment  

Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Phil Moore – Special Projects Manager (Planning) 10 September 2021 

Approved by: Gary Smith – Director of Commercial & Operations 13 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

17 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Note the positive progress and opportunity to continue to work together with 
Lincolnshire County Council to increase the speed and scale of tree planting 
across the county. 

2. Note the ongoing work with the Woodland Trust and continued opportunities to 
work jointly, including reviewing grant funding opportunities. 

3. Consider the four outlined options for the establishment of new trees on Council 
managed open spaces, whether these should be recommended to Cabinet and how 
these could be funded, subject to consultation with local stakeholders. 

11

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

4. Note the limited space that South Kesteven District Council has to develop 
additional tree planting on amenity spaces. 

5. Endorse the enhancement to the tree replacement approach for Council managed 
trees to plant at least two trees for any trees that need to be removed. 

6. Explore the best models for future long-term stewardship of trees and landscaping 
within large scale developments. 

12



 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 This report aims to respond to discussions which took place at the Environment Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee on 8 June 2021 and to provide a comprehensive update on the 

South Kesteven District Council’s tree planting ambitions. 

1.2 Trees will play an important role in helping us adapt to a warmer world: trees near rivers 

help to improve water quality and flood risk, and in our towns help to provide shade. The 

benefits of trees and greenspace for wellbeing and mental health is also becoming better 

understood. 

1.3 Tree planting can also play a role in national ambitions to achieve net-zero carbon 

emissions, through their capacity to absorb and store carbon. Natural climate solutions, 

including tree planting, can be considered an essential complement to, but not a 

replacement for, ongoing efforts to decarbonise the economy. The establishment of new 

wooded areas can play an important role in carbon sequestration and offer potential as 

assured carbon offset mechanisms. Planting trees and establishing new woodland as a 

method of carbon capture also is resoundingly popular: the UK’s Citizen’s Climate 

Assembly found that 99% of all respondents voted for forests as a means of greenhouse 

gas removals in the UK. 

1.4 As a county, Lincolnshire has one of the lowest levels of tree cover in England, at 5.67% 

compared to an average for England of around 10%. The UK Government published the 

new England Trees Action Plan in May 2021, which sets out the target for tree cover in 

England to be at least 12% by mid-century. This document includes a call to action for 

stakeholders to help deliver on the long-term vision for trees and woods in England: 

• Apply for grants for establishing and managing trees and woodlands; 

• Access more and better advice and guidance on establishing and managing trees and 
woodlands;  

• Work with the UK government to unlock more private finance to invest in trees and 
woodlands; 

• Plant trees particularly where they make the most difference – for water, biodiversity, 
climate resilience and close to where people work, live and play; 

• Responsibly enjoy wooded landscapes. 

1.5 South Kesteven District Council is itself responsible for the management of around 6,000 

trees of varying age and maturity. The Council’s Tree Guidelines for the Management of 

Trees in South Kesteven were approved on 17 September 2019. This guidance sets out 

the Council’s approach as an authority to tree management and protection within the 

district, noting the need to balance safety with amenity concerns and continuity of care for 

all the Council’s tree stock. This document included the new Member Tree Notification 

Protocol, which outlines who will be notified in the event of major tree works. This 

document helped to formalise the approach to trees and tree management. 

1.6 South Kesteven District Council further recognised the value of trees through working with 

the Woodland Trust to develop and adopt the Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods 

and People at Cabinet on 12 November 2019. This endorses ten key principles to endorse 

the Council’s community leadership role, while recognising the need to balance positive 

commitments to trees with wider responsibilities including safety, value for money, public 

amenity and development and growth. 

13

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4098&Ver=4
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987432/england-trees-action-plan.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23924/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24267/2019-10-8%20-%20Cabinet%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report%20v2.pdf


 

 
 

1.7 There are several key considerations the Council should have in respect to trees or 

establishment of any new trees in Council owned open space. It is recommended new 

trees are not established in close proximity to dwellings to avoid any future potential 

issues that mature trees can pose to buildings. Consideration should also be given 

towards any future development plans for the site in question, and whether this is 

compatible with the establishment of trees. Trees planted with sensitivity to their surrounds 

have the most potential to offer benefits to the community and to the wider environment. 

Additionally, there is finite potential for the limited amount of amenity land which the 

Council manages for new tree planting. Any planting proposals would be expected to be 

subject to further consultation with local residents and users to ensure that any potential 

tension between current use of space and future use for tree planting is aligned. 

1.8 In a discussion regarding ambitions to increase the speed and scale of tree planting as 

part of the response to the climate emergency on 8 June 2021, Members noted that the 

Council has limited suitable land for tree planting. There is a significant opportunity to 

engage with communities and key partners in the district to maximise uptake of tree 

planting schemes, making use of grant funding opportunities where possible. There are 

also opportunities to promote or prompt this through the planning system and working with 

developers. 

Recent tree planting schemes that have been taken forward by South Kesteven District 

Council and partners include the Wyndham Park Grantham Heroes Commemorative 

Orchard, where 75 fruit trees were planted on land leased from the National Trust, and 

South Kesteven District Council supported the Wyndham Park Forum and coordinated a 

crowdfunding effort for the work.  

2 Tree planting and Planning 

2.1 Current work 

2.1.1 The Council’s Planning Department has been working proactively to encourage more tree 

planting, as well as better landscape design and management within new developments. 

This is being achieved in a number of ways including through policies in the local plan, 

pre-application advice given by officers and recommendations/decisions on planning 

applications. 

2.1.2 Regarding planning policy, the Council’s adopted local plan (adopted  30 January 2020) is 

much stronger on sustainability, climate change, design and environmental issues, than 

previous versions. This is consistent with national planning policy. Overall there is now a 

much greater emphasis on good design than previously – tree planting and landscaping, 

(including street trees) are key components to good design. Notably, the latest version of 

the National Planning Policy Framework (August 2021) contains the following paragraph: 

2.1.3 “Trees make an important contribution to the character and quality of urban environments, 

and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate change. Planning policies and decisions 

should ensure that new streets are tree-lined, that opportunities are taken to incorporate 

trees elsewhere in developments (such as parks and community orchards), that 

appropriate measures are in place to secure the long-term maintenance of newly-planted 

trees, and that existing trees are retained wherever possible. Applicants and local planning 

authorities should work with highways officers and tree officers to ensure that the right 

trees are planted in the right places, and solutions are found that are compatible with 

highways standards and the needs of different users.” 

14

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4098&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24718/Council%20report%20300120%20Local%20Plan.pdf


 

 
 

2.1.4 The Planning team now benefit from greater expertise including an in-house design officer 

and retained landscape and arboricultural consultants. The team has set up monthly 

“Design PAD” meetings – these are round table meetings with developers, planners and 

relevant consultees where pre-application enquiries and planning applications are 

discussed with a view to improving design. Through this forum planners have been able to 

negotiate improved proposals from developers including more trees and better 

landscaping. 

2.1.5 Street Trees – over the past couple of years, Lincolnshire County Council Highways have 

taken much more of a “placemaking” approach to new development, as opposed to their 

previous more rigid engineering led approach. Working in collaboration with South 

Kesteven District Council planners, they now positively encourage street trees within new 

development and will adopt them. As a result, many more developments being approved 

include street trees. 

2.1.6 Liaison with the Woodland Trust – Planning Officers are working proactively with the 

Woodland Trust and the promoters of major developments including the two garden 

villages allocated in the Local Plan (Spitalgate Heath and Prince William of Gloucester 

Barracks) to evolve masterplans and landscape strategies to maximise tree planting. The 

Woodland Trust are also routinely consulted on pre-application enquiries and planning 

applications where there is a potential impact on woodland or significant new tree planting. 

2.1.7 Prince William of Gloucester Barracks – the local plan allocation policy requires “the 

feasible retention of as much existing woodland as possible including recently planted 

areas, as well as the provision of new areas of woodland and green access routes”. The 

policy recognises that not all of the recently planted Diamond Jubilee Woodland can be 

retained if the site is developed to accommodate the policy requirement of a minimum of 

3500-4000 dwellings, and it is recognised that some compensatory planting will be needed 

off site. Officers are working with the promoters to help identify suitable sites nearby for 

new planting – these could include Council owned land. 

2.2 Future Aspirations regarding tree planting 

2.2.1 Stewardship – the planning team are exploring the best models for future long-term 

stewardship of trees and landscaping within large scale developments – particularly the 

two garden village schemes. The district already has a good example of a large-scale 

development with stewardship undertaken by a Community Trust, at Elsea Park in 

Bourne, which has carried out proactive tree planting. 

2.2.2 Further opportunities include more strongly worded landscape conditions on planning 

permissions, including enforceable landscape management plans, which are being 

considered. 

2.2.3 There is also a potential review of tree preservation orders (TPOs) which could possibly 

include more TPOs. 

2.2.4 Currently the Planning Team use the services of a consultant arboriculturalist to advise on 

tree related applications. There are potential cost savings and other benefits from 

employing a full time in-house arboriculturalist who could offer advice to other departments 

as well as Planning. 

2.2.5 There is increasingly closer liaison with the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer and 

other Council departments on tree and environmental issues. 

15



 

 
 

 

3 Council Tree Planting Proposals 

3.1 In addition to the Council’s own work and aspirations around tree establishment, 

Lincolnshire County Council are also advancing work with the same goal of planting new 

trees. In an announcement of budget proposals on 21 February 2020, Lincolnshire County 

Council announced that the Council will plant one tree for every resident in Lincolnshire 

within the next three to five years, and have committed to replant at least four trees for 

every removed while undertaking key projects. The potential for establishing new saplings 

alongside highways developments is noted, and further sites will need to be identified to 

meet the goal of planting at least 750,000 trees in the next three to five years. There is 

significant potential for the two authorities to work in tandem to identify sites within South 

Kesteven, and to attract grant funding to increase the speed and scale of tree planting in 

the district. 

3.2 Proposals for increasing the speed and scale of tree planting schemes have been 

discussed and considered for this report and include a number of projects as detailed 

below. 

3.3 As proposed at the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 8 June 2021, four 

sites, one in each town of the district, have now been identified for potential additional tree 

planting. Further detail of this is included at Appendix A, which includes high level site 

details. Proposed high level costs are included as below: 

 

Average cost of single 
sapling and maintenance in 

year 1 

Cost per site, based on 20 
trees 

Total cost for four sites 

£375 £7500 £30,000 

 

3.4 In order to proceed, funding for these four sites would need to be identified and allocated. 

It is hoped that grant opportunities may be identified for this planting, including external 

grant funding (eg Woodland Trust), SK Community Fund grant (this would require 

partnership working with a community group or parish/town council). Otherwise, there is 

potential to review unassigned but within scope s106 funds or reprioritisation of existing 

budgets from across the Council. 

3.5 If funding is secured and the rollout approved, it is proposed that the relevant SKDC ward 

Councillor/s are engaged to seek the views of local residents, groups and the parish/town 

council.  

3.6 In addition to the above proposal which makes use of Council open amenity space, there 

is further potential to review the viability of several Housing Revenue Account open 

spaces. While there may be additional considerations here around proximity to dwellings 

and current use of open space, there are several areas that may be good candidates for 

tree planting schemes. A site is currently being investigated with the requisite Parish 

Council to better understand site specific requirements to establish new trees. 

3.7 The Council’s approach to tree planting and replacement  is that new trees will be planted 

in suitable Council open space if budgets allow, as detailed in the Tree Guidelines for the 

16

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/3597/lcc-budget-speech-2020-pdfa
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4098&Ver=4


 

 
 

Management of Trees in South Kesteven agreed on 17 September 2019. The practice is 

that at least one tree is planted or any tree removed. There is potential to consider 

strengthening this so that the Council commits to plant two new trees whenever a tree 

needs to be removed, as part of the Council’s support for wider tree planting in the district. 

This is expected to be able to be achieved within existing budgets. 

3.8 South Kesteven District Council liaised with Lincolnshire County Council to participate in a 

joint partnership bid they were coordinating into the DEFRA Treescapes fund, which made 

available £2.7 million on a competitive basis to increase tree planting and natural 

regeneration in local communities. Top tier authorities were eligible to apply and each of 

the districts engaged with the call for sites. South Kesteven District Council proposed that 

500 trees be included in the bid for the district, with potential identified to engage with 

Parish Councils who may be interested in developing tree planting schemes for their land 

holdings. The final application was submitted by Lincolnshire County Council in early June 

2021, and at the time of writing, the successful applicants to the Treescapes fund have not 

been notified. However, a successful allocation would be a significant boost to planned 

tree planting in the district.  

3.8.1 As part of this bid, Lincolnshire County Council contacted Parish Councils throughout the 

county to understand interest in tree planting schemes in Parish Council managed spaces. 

Further conversation with Lincolnshire County Council found that there was a strong 

response from Parishes based in South Kesteven in particular, which saw the most 

expressions of interest of each of the Lincolnshire districts, and included one proposal for 

a larger planting scheme at Swinstead There is potential to further review sites with Parish 

and Town Councils for future work or should the Treescapes fund bid for Lincolnshire not 

prove successful for this round. 

3.8.2 A call of interest to landholders and farmers in Lincolnshire was also held, with the 

assistance of the National Farmers Union. There was a strong response from this across 

the county to participate in the Treescapes bid, as well as participating in future grant 

funded schemes for tree planting that may become available. 

3.8.3 Lincolnshire County Council have expressed an interest in continuing to work closely with 

South Kesteven District Council to meet joint ambitions to increase tree planting in the 

district, and to work together to attract grant funding to achieve that goal. 

3.9 South Kesteven District Council have also contacted the National Farmers Union to 

discuss further how we can support and promote tree planting with landowners in the 

district. The England Woodland Creation Offer has been raised as a significant new 

opportunity for interested parties. The new fund is open to landowners, land managers 

and public bodies to receive financial support to create new woodlands on areas of land 

as small as one hectare. This grant offers improved financial rewards compared to 

previous tree and woodland creation grant schemes and recognises the role of essential 

ecosystem services like flood prevention that trees can play.     

3.10 Furthering work with the Woodland Trust also represents a significant opportunity to 

advance work around tree planting. The Council continues to hold regular meetings with 

key Woodland Trust contacts to discuss projects and furthering support for tree protection 

and establishment within the Council’s remit. The Council is also exploring opportunities 

with the Woodland Trust for possible additional tree planting which could be part of the 

wider Queen’s Green Canopy (QGC) initiative. The QGC has been created to mark Her 

Majesty’s Platinum Jubilee in 2022, and will create a national network of trees, avenues, 

17

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23924/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report.pdf


 

 
 

copses and woodlands in honour of the Queen’s service and legacy she has built. Options 

are being developed with the Woodland Trust who are keen to support and it may be 

possible for the Woodland Trust to fund. 

3.11 Linked to this, the Woodland Trust have made the Council aware of their new Emergency 

Tree Fund, targeted at local authorities. The application process for this is expected to be 

announced later in 2021, and several opportunities for tree planting schemes and wider 

opportunities to promote and support tree establishment are being reviewed in advance of 

this scheme opening for applications. The Woodland Trust have shared examples of their 

work with other local authorities in the pilot phase, which included one council who 

engaged Parish Councils in a successful call for planting sites, and another authority who 

focussed on urban street trees. 

3.12 Regarding wider work to promote tree planting, it is recognised that the Council has an 

important community leadership role. As well as considering where tree planting schemes 

can be developed for the Council’s open spaces, there is a significant opportunity to 

develop a hub of resources for all interested stakeholders in the district. This could 

signpost residents, businesses, farmers, landholders and land managers, Parish and 

Town Councils and any other interested party towards information on tree planting and 

direct towards any available sources of grant funding to support establishment of new 

trees.  

3.13 Finally, the Council continues to have an opportunity to look to reduce paper used for 

general office printing, committees and agenda packs, and wider communications with 

residents. While the Council has obligations which necessitate the use of printed media, 

and covid lockdowns have helped to reduce general office printing, opportunities still can 

be explored to reduce paper where possible. Any reduction in paper used by the Council 

will help to reduce trees felled globally, as well as providing a cost saving for the Council. 

4 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

4.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered two presentations at the 

meeting of 8 June 2021 and agreed the actions set out within this report. 

4.2 Consultation regarding tree planting opportunities has been ongoing with colleagues at 

Lincolnshire County Council, who have expressed support for working closely with South 

Kesteven District Council to increase the speed and scale of tree planting. 

5 Available Options Considered 

5.1 The Council could choose to focus only on its managed open spaces as the focus for tree 

planting schemes. While there would be a significant level of control for new planting 

schemes, viable space is currently limited to bring forward larger planting schemes. 

5.2 The Council could focus exclusively on opportunities to increase the speed and scale of 

tree planting outside of its land holdings. This offers more scale to develop schemes. 

6 Preferred Option 

6.1 Consider the recommendations as set out and develop Council open amenity areas 

including the proposal at paragraph 3.3, as well as furthering work with Lincolnshire 

County Council, the Woodland Trust, the National Farmers Union and other key 

stakeholders to maximise opportunities to increase the speed and scale of tree planting in 

the district.  

18

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4098&Ver=4


 

 
 

7 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

7.1 This approach recognises that the Council can have an important role in making use of its 

own spaces, where possible, to develop new tree planting areas that will provide 

significant community and amenity benefit as they develop.  Furthermore, the most 

significant opportunity to maximise tree planting potential is to encourage stakeholders 

throughout the district to consider where tree planting schemes could be developed, from 

small urban additions of trees to larger plantations. 

8 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

8.1 This report sets out several points for consideration which can help increase the speed 

and scale of tree planting. 

9 Financial Implications  

9.1 There is currently no Council budget to fund the four tree planting options set out in 

paragraph 3.3 for a total £30k. Grant funding would need to be secured to fund these or a 

budget amendment agreed by Cabinet which would require the identification and 

reprioritisation of funds from elsewhere.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

10 Legal and Governance Implications  

10.1 There are no specific legal or governance implications from the proposals set out. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

11.1 No significant issues identified. 

12 Risk and Mitigation 

12.1 The risks and the Council’s management obligations for established trees are set out in 

the Tree Guidelines for the Management of Trees in South Kesteven. These 

considerations should also be given where newly planted trees are being established. 

13 Community Safety Implications  

13.1 No significant issues identified. 

14 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

14.1 The establishment of new trees within the Council’s remit will help support wider 

objectives around climate change. Whilst not within the Council’s carbon footprint, 

additional trees planted are an essential complement to ongoing decarbonisation works, 

as well as supporting national ambitions for additional tree cover in England. 

15 Background Papers 

15.1 17 September 2019 (item 15): 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23924/2019-9-17%20-

%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report.pdf  

19

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23924/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23924/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report.pdf


 

 
 

15.2 12 November 2019 (item 40): 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24267/2019-10-8%20-

%20Cabinet%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report%20v2.pdf  

15.3 30 January 2020 (item 77): 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24718/Council%20report%20300120

%20Local%20Plan.pdf  

15.4 21 February 2020, Lincolnshire County Council Budget Speech 2020: 

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/3597/lcc-budget-speech-2020-pdfa  

15.5 8 June 2021 (item 6): 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4098&Ver=

4  

15.6 The England Trees Action Plan, UK Government: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_

data/file/987432/england-trees-action-plan.pdf  

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

n/a 

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

8 June 2021 

Final Decision date   n/a 

 

20

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24267/2019-10-8%20-%20Cabinet%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report%20v2.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24267/2019-10-8%20-%20Cabinet%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report%20v2.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24718/Council%20report%20300120%20Local%20Plan.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24718/Council%20report%20300120%20Local%20Plan.pdf
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/3597/lcc-budget-speech-2020-pdfa
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4098&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4098&Ver=4
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987432/england-trees-action-plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987432/england-trees-action-plan.pdf


Appendix A: Outlined SKDC managed sites including tree planting proposals 

The below costs for trees are based on previous purchases by SKDC from a UK based 

supplier of young trees. The species and tree girth have not yet been determined and are 

dependent on the context of the sites identified, therefore average costs have been 

suggested:  

Tree supply and planting with stakes and ties £160 - £200 per tree 

It is strongly recommended that saplings planted are reasonably mature given the planting 

context in amenity land. These spaces are often used for dog walking and as play spaces, 

which can have an impact on immature saplings and result in trees not surviving to maturity. 

Young trees approx. 2 – 3m tall with Stem circumference (girth): 

Tree Girth (cm) 

10 – 12 3.5 

12 – 14 4.1 

 

The below costs include checking and irrigation as required during the first growing year of 

£140 – £250 per location. This can vary greatly, and the assumption has been made it that it 

will be an average year with average temperatures, rainfall etc.  

Average cost of tree £180 

Average cost of maintenance in first year £195 

TOTAL £375 

 

The corresponding cost for 20 trees including maintenance is as follows. 

Allocation of 20 trees per site £7500 

TOTAL cost for 4 sites £30,000 

 

 

Proposed sites for consideration are included below: 

 

 

 

 

21



Grantham 

Gonerby Hill Foot Play area - approximate location for new trees within black penned 

area: https://goo.gl/maps/kznXjwE8uffK1QUWA  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22

https://goo.gl/maps/kznXjwE8uffK1QUWA


Stamford   

Foxglove Road play area - approximate location for new trees within black penned 

area: https://goo.gl/maps/VXv8TMCpSwqRYWpM6 

 

Market Deeping 

Tattershall Drive- approximate location for new trees within black penned area: 

https://goo.gl/maps/L6eNM5AtK7KVRv3W7  

 

23

https://goo.gl/maps/VXv8TMCpSwqRYWpM6
https://goo.gl/maps/L6eNM5AtK7KVRv3W7


Bourne 

Rochester Drive - approximate location for new trees within black penned area: 

https://goo.gl/maps/zkPnzZxc9jcDZxAY8  

 

24

https://goo.gl/maps/zkPnzZxc9jcDZxAY8


 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

28 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Climate & Carbon dashboard 2020/21  

 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

 
01476 406125 

 serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Director – Commercial & Operations 20 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To note the contents of the annual summary of South Kesteven District Council’s 
reported carbon footprint for 2020/21. 

 

 

 

25

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Background 

1.1 South Kesteven District Council made a formal declaration of climate emergency on 26 

September 2019 with cross party support. Alongside this, the Council confirmed the 

political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by at least 30% by 2030, 

and to endeavour to become net-zero as soon as viable before 2050.  

1.2 In order to monitor and manage the Council’s carbon footprint, it is recommended to 

publish an (at least annual) update on reported carbon emissions. 

1.3 This carbon dashboard includes the full scope of South Kesteven District Council’s carbon 

emissions for the 2020/21 financial year. 

1.4 The reported carbon footprint shows an overall reduction in carbon emissions of almost 

25%, compared to the baseline year of 2018/19. Further detail is included within the 

included carbon dashboard. 

2 Financial Implications  

2.1 There are no specific financial comments arising from the report.  Council has approved a 

specific climate change reserve to support the delivery of agreed initiatives.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

3 Legal and Governance Implications  

3.1 As part of good governance, it is important that Members are updated on the Council’s 

carbon emissions in order to monitor progress against the declared reduction target. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

4 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

4.1 None. 

5 Risk and Mitigation 

5.1 None. 

6 Community Safety Implications  

6.1 None. 

7 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

7.1 Monitoring the Council’s carbon emissions is an essential component of understanding 

progress towards the declared carbon reduction target of at least 30% by 2030 and help to 

highlight areas which see a reduction or increase in carbon emissions. 

8 Other Implications (where significant)  

8.1 None. 

9 Appendices  

9.1 Climate and carbon dashboard for 2020/21. 

26



Source
 

Frequency Confidence

Electric
Environment SK
Fleet
Gas
Leisure Centres
Member Travel
Refrigerants
Solar
Staff Travel
Waste
Water

Quarterly
Annual
Monthly
Quarterly
Variable
Monthly
Annual
Annual
Quarterly
Quarterly
Annual

Green
Green
Green
Green
DarkOrange
Green
DarkOrange
DarkOrange
Green
DarkOrange
Red

Confidence
 

Description

Green
Amber

Red

High level of confidence in the data supplied.
Moderate Level of confidence in the data supplied. May
include estimated or proxy data.
Low level of confidence in the data supplied. Data may be
incomplete or has not been effectively validated.

Commentary :

This tool analyses sources of carbon emissions across the operations of South Kesteven 
District Council, including the use of gas and electricity, emissions from the vehicle fleet and 
operation of four Leisure Centres. Greater understanding of carbon emission changes is 
essential to track progress towards the Council's carbon reduction target of at least 30% by 
2030 and to net zero carbon as soon as viable before 2050. 
The 2020/21 financial year saw a significant decrease in carbon emissions of 24.85%. This 
period was exceptional in the enforced lockdowns which were imposed to prevent the spread 
of covid-19, which, by necessity, had an impact on the activities and carbon emissions of 
SKDC. As a result of this departure from business as usual, carbon emissions are significantly 
reduced in comparison to the baseline. 
The largest reductions were seen from the scope 3 leased assets, with a 50% reduction in 
carbon emissions from energy use and waste produced, due to the impact of closing facilities. 
The Council's electricity use reduced significantly which, alongside continued decarbonisation 
of the electricity grid, led to a 33% reduction in carbon emissions. However, gas consumed in 
buildings increased  by just over 8% compared to the baseline, principally from properties in 
the housing portfolio included in the  baseline. There was also a modest increase of 3% from 
the operation of the Council's vehicle fleet, in large part due to additional pressures on the 
waste collection fleet.
While it is worth noting that SKDC achieved very significant carbon reductions in the period, it 
is worth bearing in mind these were not achieved by direct operational changes aiming to 
reduce carbon emissions, or by upgrade of existing facilities to improve energy efficiency. 
SKDC should look to understand where some of these reductions in energy used can be 
sustained as it returns to full operations, and continue to develop projects which tackle the 
hotspots of carbon emissions.
Regarding integrity of data, the hotspot carbon emission sources of gas, electric and fleet are 
considered green as a reflection of high reliability of data. The information provided for the 
Leisure Centres is considered amber due to the data being out of the direct control of the 
Council, as well as the final quarter being estimate data due to a change in management 
arrangements. The leisure centres form part of the Council’s carbon footprint following the 
decision to include scope 3 leased assets at Environment Committee in February 2020.

South Kesteven District 
Council Carbon Emissions 

Tracker
Data Quality Index :

27



-52.63%
Leased Asset change from 2018/19 Baseline

1495
Leased Asset Co2e

1461
Gas CO2e

1967
Fleet CO2e

710.37
Electric CO2e

69.53
Business Travel CO2e

3.70
Water CO2e

4.12
Waste CO2e

0.00
Refrigerants CO2e

South Kesteven District Council Emissions 2020/2021

2.54%
Fleet change from 2018/19 Baseline

8.73%
Gas change from 2018/19 Baseline

-33.73%
Electric change from 2018/19 Baseline

-29.76%
Business Travel change from 2018/19 Baseline

-25.90%
Water change from 2018/19 Baseline

37.36%
Waste change from 2018/19 Baseline

-100.00%
Refrigerants change from 2018/19 Baseline

5,711
Total CO2e Tonnes

-24.85%
Difference From Baseline (%)

-1889
Difference From Baseline (Tonnes)

7220
Target Emissions

28



South Kesteven District Council Carbon Emissions Tracker - Annual Comparison

Yearly Emissions - CO2e Tonnes

0K

1K

2K

3K

4K

5K

6K

7K

Year

CO
2e

 T
on

ne
s

2019/2020 2020/2021

2018/19 Baseline: 7,600.00

2030 Target: 5,320.00

7.14K

5.71K

29



South Kesteven District Council Carbon Emissions Tracker - Quarterly Update

Quarterly Emissions - CO2e Tonnes

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Year & Quarter

CO
2e

 T
on

ne
s

2019/2020 1 2019/2020 2 2019/2020 3 2019/2020 4 2020/2021 1 2020/2021 2 2020/2021 3 2020/2021 4

2018/19 Baseline Quarterly Average: 1898

1420

1547

1765

942

1299

1501

1673

1003

Target Emissions Quarterly Co2e (Inc. Approximations for Annually reported emmisions)

30



Total CO2e Tonnes For South Kesteven by Scope

740.28K (68.39%)

177.17K (16.37%)

165K (15.24%)

Scope
SCOPE1 - DIRECT

SCOPE2 - INDIRECT

SCOPE3 - OTHER

CO2e Emissions by Sector
Sector Total CO2e Tonnes For South Kesteven %GT Value

Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use
Generation of grid-supplied energy
Industrial Process and Product Use
Stationary energy
Transportation
Waste

22,304.51
174.49

45,705.88
621,386.48
378,889.41
13,986.13

2.06%
0.02%
4.22%

57.41%
35.00%
1.29%

Total 1,082,446.90 100.00%

Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land
Use

-20K

0K

20K

40K

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

s 
…

Livestock Land use

31.02K

-8.71K

Generation of grid-supplied energy

0

100

200

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
n…

Local
renewabl…

0.17K

Industrial Process and Product Use

0K

50K

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
n…

Industrial
process

Industrial
product u…

45.71K

0K

Stationary energy

0.0M

0.2M

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

s 
…

Residential
buildings

Industrial
buildings & …

Commercial
buildings & …

Institutional
buildings & …

Fugitive
emissions

Agriculture

256.25K
229.29K

73.07K
28K 20.05K 14.74K

Transportation

0.0M

0.2M

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

s 
…

On-road Aviation Rail Off-road Waterborne
navigation

292.46K

73.07K

9.94K 2.92K 0.51K

Waste

0K

5K

10K

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

s 
…

Wastewater
treatment…

Solid waste
disposal

8.35K 5.64K

South Kesteven District-wide Emissions 
2018 (Latest available data).

1.08M
Total CO2e Tonnes For South Kesteven

31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

28 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Climate Matters annual report 

 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

 
01476 406125 

 serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Director – Commercial & Operations 20 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To note the contents of the draft Climate Matters annual climate change and 
carbon report. 

 

 

 

33

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Background 

1.1 South Kesteven District Council made a formal declaration of climate emergency on 26 

September 2019 with cross party support. Alongside this, the Council confirmed the 

political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by at least 30% by 2030, 

and to endeavour to become net-zero as soon as viable before 2050.  

1.2 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviewed the draft content for an 

inaugural climate change annual report on 6 October 2020. 

1.3 The first Climate Matters annual report to assess South Kesteven District Council’s work 

focussing on climate change, and progress against carbon targets was published on 3 

November 2020.  

1.4 The second Climate Matters draft report provides an update on progress within the last 

year from September 2020 to September 2021, and sets out ambitions for the next 12 

months. 

2 Financial Implications  

2.1 There are no specific financial comments arising from the report.  The Council has 

approved a Climate Change reserve which can be utilised to implement specific carbon 

reduction initiatives.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer 

3 Legal and Governance Implications  

3.1 As part of good governance, it is important that Members are updated on the Council’s 

work on climate change and carbon emissions, in line with its declaration of climate 

emergency. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

4 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

4.1 None. 

5 Risk and Mitigation 

5.1 None. 

6 Community Safety Implications  

6.1 None. 

7 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

7.1 The report aims to keep Members updated of the Council’s work on climate change and 

actions completed within the last year. It is essential to review progress on a regular basis 

against carbon reduction targets and broader ambitions on climate change for the district. 

8 Other Implications (where significant)  

8.1 None. 

34



 

 
 

9 Appendices 

9.1 Climate Matters 2021 annual draft report. 

35



This page is intentionally left blank



Climate
Climate change and carbon reduction annual statement

Matters 2021

Update on reducing  
our carbon footprint

What we have  
achieved this year

Our plans for 2022

Inside

+
37



Foreword

Climate change is the pressing 
issue of our time and over the 
last year we have been reminded 
of this once again, not only in 
the urgency of fresh reports from 
national and international bodies 
like the Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC); but 
also, in the extreme weather 
events that we are seeing with 
increasing regularity around the 
world.

While climate change is a 
global issue – every individual, 
business, council and community 
must play its part. That’s why in 
2019 South Kesteven District 
Council declared a climate 
emergency, to put the issue at 
the centre of our agenda as a 
local authority. I am proud of 
this decision to take a stand and 
begin the process of mapping 
a vision for a more sustainable 
district.

After setting out the changes 
we must make to reduce our 
environmental impact last year, I 
am pleased to see that this year 
South Kesteven District Council’s 
carbon footprint has reduced 
by almost 25%. While the 
impact of Covid-19 lockdowns 
played a part in this reduction, 
it is a strong step in the right 
direction – and one that we must 

do everything to maintain and 
improve upon in the year ahead 
to meet not only our own targets, 
but the nation’s target of a net-
zero carbon economy by 2050.

Personally, this is an issue 
I care deeply about, and as 
someone who wants to see the 
South Kesteven district thrive, 
I know that tackling climate 
change is crucial to ensuring that 
our district is a great place to 
work, live, and visit – today and 
in the future.

@KelhamCooke          @CllrKelhamCooke           linkedin.com/in/kelhamcooke

E: kelham.cooke@
southkesteven.gov.uk
T: 01476 406400

Cllr Kelham Cooke
Leader of South Kesteven 
District Council

@PeterMoseley14          www.linkedin.com/in/dr-peter-moseley-45bb695b/

Since our first Climate Matters 
report last year, South Kesteven 
District Council has continued to 
work through the impacts of the 
coronavirus pandemic and adapt 
to the changes it imposed on our 
key services. The impact of various 
lockdowns and compulsory shut 
down of services had a significant 
impact on our reported carbon 
footprint for the last year. 

A particularly striking reduction 

was seen for some services in 
particular, with direct and indirect 
carbon reductions of over 50% 
compared to our baseline year. 
We are conscious that we must 
continue to look for opportunities 
to reduce the Council’s carbon 
footprint through targeted projects 
in order to meet our goal to reduce 
carbon footprint by at least 30% 
by 2030 and to net-zero carbon as 
soon as viable after that.

As well as reporting on two 
successive years of our carbon 
footprint, both of which saw a 
reduction in line with targets, 
we have set out in this report a 
number of successes which help 
to reduce the carbon emissions of 
the Council and the wider district. 
This work cuts across service 
areas and demonstrates the need 
for continued partnership work to 
contribute towards national targets 
to decarbonise the economy.

It has been encouraging to see 
focus and momentum towards 
the target of net-zero carbon at a 
national level as we head towards 
the crucial COP26 climate change 
conference to be held in Glasgow 
in November. It is clear there 
is a shared ambition to rapidly 
decarbonise sectors including 
buildings and transport, and local 
authorities continue have a key 
role to play in that.

E: Peter.Moseley@ 
southkesteven.gov.uk
T:  01476 406407

Cllr Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for  
Commercial and Operations

38



Introduction
This is the second Climate Change and Carbon Reduction Annual Statement to highlight the activities, 
achievements and challenges around climate change since South Kesteven District Council’s declaration 
of Climate Emergency in September 2019. 

Main sources of South Kesteven District 
Council carbon emissions in 2020/21

7600 Baseline total  
co2e emissions 

5711 2020/21 total  
co2e emissions

-24.85%

Positive

Leased Assets
3157 Baseline Leased Asset  

(Leisure Centres) co2e emissions
1495 2020/21 Leased Asset  

(Leisure Centres) co2e emissions
 

Baseline year=2018/19
CO2e = carbon  

dioxide equivalent

Positive

Vehicle fleet
1918 Baseline vehicle fleet 

co2e emissions
1967 2020/21 vehicle fleet 

co2e emissions

+2.54%

Positive

Electricity
1072 baseline electricity  

use co2e emissions
710 2020/21 electricity  

use co2e emissions

-33.73%

Negative

Mains gas
1344 baseline mains gas  

co2e emissions
1461 2020/21 mains gas  

co2e emissions

+8.73%

Negative

Positive

Business travel
99 baseline business travel 

co2e emissions
70 2020/21 baseline business 

travel co2e emissions

-25.9%

39



› Publish Council carbon footprint 
for 2021/22

› Review carbon reduction action 
plan to develop targeted projects 
to reduce emissions in line with 
declared targets

› Conduct review of fleet of 
Council vehicles to reduce 
emissions

› Deliver upgrades in Council 
housing stock, targeting 
properties with no gas 
connection

› Review the Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund for 
Council housing stock

› Continue to review opportunities 
to attract grant funding to 
help decarbonise key Council 
functions

› Develop proposals for greater 
tree planting within the district to 
boost biodiversity and contribute 
to carbon reduction

› Review the need to adapt to an 
increased likelihood of extreme 

weather events, particularly any 
anticipated impact on Council 
services

› Continue to run staff training 
sessions focusing on climate 
change and carbon reduction

› Work to raise awareness with 
residents, businesses, and other 
public sector partners

› Prepare and publish our third 
annual climate change and 
carbon reduction statement for 
autumn 2022

Over the next 12 months we plan to:

What has happened in the last year

Nov 2020 Dec 2020 Jan 2021 Feb 2021
• First Climate Matters 

report published
• Carbon footprint report for 2019/20 

finalised and carbon dashboard 
developed

• Electric vehicle charging points open in 
Grantham, Stamford and Market Deeping

• Progress update shared on trial  
rewilding areas

• First climate 
change training 
session for staff 
held

• Upgrade of heating 
system at Manor 
Court flats, Bourne

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

March 2021 May 2021 June 2021 Sept 2021
• Climate Action Group confirmed as 

permanent to review Council action
• Approved 

allocation of Green 
Homes Grant 
upgrades for off 
gas grid properties

• Developed 
bid to DEFRA 
Treescapes fund 
with Lincolnshire 
County Council

• Carbon footprint 
report for 2020/21 
finalised

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

40



Energy and 
carbon
Upgrade of off-gas grid 
housing stock

A programme of works to 
improve energy efficiency has 
been agreed for over 1000 
Council-owned properties. 
These properties are off 
the gas supply grid and are 
heated either by inefficient 
storage heaters or solid fuel 
systems, putting tenants at 
risk of fuel poverty due to 
high running costs as well 
as having a high carbon 
footprint. 160 houses will be 
upgraded at the end of the 
year, making use of allocated 
Green Homes Grant funding, 
with further upgrades to follow 
in subsequent years. Each 
property will be upgraded 
with either new air source 
heat pumps or smart storage 
heaters, supported by solar 
thermal hot water  
systems.

Efficient LED  
Streetlights upgrade 
underway

Over 100 streetlights 
operated by the Council are 
due to be upgraded by the 
end of the year, including 
lights in Queen Elizabeth Park 
and nearby riverside walk in 
Grantham. LED streetlights 
are around 60% more efficient 
compared to traditional low 
sodium fittings. Over 600 lights 
are due to be upgraded in 
the next three years, offering 
significant reductions to the 
Council’s own carbon footprint.

Case 
Study

Case 
Study

Planning
Tree lined streets integrated 
into new developments

South Kesteven District 
Council has taken steps 
to ensure that street trees 
form an integral part of new 
large housing developments. 
Trees planted in new estates 
provide a boost to biodiversity, 
sequester carbon and provide 
shade amongst other benefits. 
Through partnership work 
with Design: Midlands, and 
Lincolnshire County Council 
(LCC), high quality landscaping 
and street trees are promoted 
in new developments, with 
LCC now adopting roads 
with street trees and taking 
responsibility for their 
management. The in-house 
design panel helps to consider 
landscaping with developers 
early in the design process.

Case 
Study

Biodiversity and green space
Blue Green Corridor boosts biodiversity

The Blue Green corridor project aims to transform the urban river 
corridor in Grantham and significantly boost habitat quality and 
biodiversity. 

Ambitious plans for Queen Elizabeth Park include the provision of 
wetland features and river improvements to provide food, shelter and 
spawning or nesting sites for land and water-based wildlife. By slowing 
the flow of the river, the project will also help to reduce the peak 
floodwater during times of heavy rain. 

The project is a partnership between South Kesteven District 
Council, North Kesteven District Council, the Environment Agency and 
National Trust. 

Case 
Study

Decision-  
making and 
reporting
Carbon dashboard 
developed to update on 
emissions reduction

As part of the monitoring 
and measurement of the 
Council’s carbon emissions, a 
new reporting dashboard has 
been developed to improve 
transparency and awareness 
of where reductions or 
increases in carbon emissions 
are being achieved. It includes 
quarterly updates on the four 
key carbon hotspot areas 
of gas and electricity used, 
fleet fuel use and leisure 
centre energy used each 
quarter. This oversight into the 
Council’s carbon emissions 
will help to maintain visibility 
of the key areas of opportunity 
to develop carbon reduction 
and efficiency projects.

Case 
Study

41



Insight into South Kesteven’s  
district-wide carbon emission figures 

29%
Industrial and commercial

230,200 
tonnes carbon

27%
Domestic

209,200 
tonnes carbon

2%
Public sector 

17,900 
tonnes carbon

42%
Transport

331,200 
tonnes carbon

Total
788,500 

tonnes carbon
Emissions in South 
Kesteven have

reduced by
30% since 2005.

In 2005, the per capita tonnes of carbon 
for every South Kesteven resident were:

8.8 tonnes of CO2e
In 2019

5.5 tonnes of CO2e

Government produces annual 
data showing each local authority 
area’s carbon emissions, dating 
back to 2005. This gives a useful 
insight into both total emissions 
and the relative proportion per 

sector throughout the district 
of South Kesteven, alongside 
historic reductions that have been 
achieved across the area. SKDC’s 
operational carbon emissions 
represent a small proportion of 

total emissions for the district, 
nevertheless the Council has a 
significant role to play in leading 
collaborative efforts to tackle 
climate change impacts locally.

42



COP26 UN Climate Summit

This November, the UK will 
host the 26th UN Climate Change 
Conference of the Parties (COP 
26), which aims to bring parties 
together to accelerate action 
towards the goals of the Paris 
climate agreement of 2015. The 
UK will seek to demonstrate 
leadership on climate change 
and encourage other member 
states to commit to reductions in 
carbon emissions, mobilise green 
finance, focus on adaptation for a 
changing climate for communities 
and natural habitats, and work 
together to deliver on action 
against climate change.  

Independent Assessment  
of UK Climate Risk

The UK government is required 
to publish a Climate Change 
Risk Assessment every 5 years 
which sets out the risks and 
opportunities from a changing 
climate. The Independent 
Assessment of UK Climate Risk 
report was published this year 
and, alarmingly, found that the 
gap between the level of risk we 
face and the level of adaptation 
underway has widened. The 
report identifies eight risk areas 
that require the most urgent 
attention in the next two years, 
noting the cost of action now 
will be cheaper than waiting to 
deal with the consequences of a 
changing climate.

UK Transport  
Decarbonisation Plan

Transport over land is currently 
the largest emitting sector of 
the UK economy, and carbon 
emissions from transport pose a 
particular problem for more rural 
areas. Carbon emissions from 
transport must reduce by 90% 
by 2050 to meet the economy 
wide target for net zero carbon. 
The Transport Decarbonisation 
Plan was published this summer 
and sets out a number of policies 
including measures to ban 
the sale of large diesel trucks 
by 2040, and a commitment 
to electrify the entire fleet of 
government cars and vans by 
2027.

National focus on  
climate change
As well as considering the emissions of the wider district of  
South Kesteven, action at the national level against climate change  
will define our local approach. 

03
42

6R
T_

9.
21

43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
28 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme update 

This report provides an update on the Council’s work on the Public Sector Decarbonisation 
Scheme grant funding offer. 

 

 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

 
01476 406125 

 serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment  

Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Gareth Dawkins 13 September 2021 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Director – Commercial & Operations 13 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

17 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Note the closedown of the current project and the return of the outstanding grant 
funding to the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy and note the 
reasons why this is a prudent course of action on this occasion. 

2. Support the Council’s application to future grant funding opportunities to reduce 
the Council’s carbon footprint. 

45

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report provides an update on the Council’s Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme 

(PSDS) project.  It outlines the project issues and proposes the closedown of the project 

following the effective notification from the provider that they were withdrawing from the 

contract as they could no longer assure delivery within the required grant timescales.  This 

was a result of the significant supply chain delivery delays (up to 26 weeks for air source 

heat pumps) and the availability of required sub-contractors. It is understood that a 

number of other public sector recipients of the same grant funding have also been 

challenged by the availability of key equipment for their proposals, as well as the effects of 

increasing costs which have made some projects unviable. 

1.2 The project timescales were always challenging but this was compounded by the 

inevitable impact of the £1bn injection into the market at one time alongside various other 

related sizeable Government grant schemes.  This had the effect of the relatively 

undeveloped heat decarbonisation market struggling to meet the upshoot in demand 

resulting in significant supply chain delays and contractor capacity issues. This was further 

exacerbated by Covid-19 operating restrictions and closures.   

2 The Background to the Report 

2.1 South Kesteven District Council made a formal declaration of ‘climate emergency’ on 26th 

September 2019 with cross party support, and confirmed the political ambition to reduce 

the organisation’s carbon footprint by at least 30% by 2030 and to endeavour to become 

net-zero carbon as soon as viable before 2050. 

2.2 Subsequent work was conducted to establish the Council’s carbon footprint and identify 

projects to reduce carbon emissions in line with a reduction of at least 30% by 2030. This 

found that across operations the Council must reduce its own carbon footprint by at least 

190 tonnes on average every year to 2030 to remain on target. 

2.3 In late September 2020, the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

(BEIS) launched a £1bn PSDS grant scheme as part of the Chancellor’s ‘Plan for Jobs’ 

commitment to support the UK’s economic recovery from covid-19. This aims to support 

skilled jobs in the low carbon and energy efficiency sectors. The scheme provides grant 

funding for energy efficiency and heat decarbonisation (moving from gas heating) 

measures across the public sector, targeted at non-domestic buildings. This grant scheme 

is being delivered and administered by Salix Finance Ltd, who work throughout the public 

sector to develop and finance energy efficiency projects. 

2.4 South Kesteven District Council submitted an application to the fund on the 23rd November 

2020, covering four buildings, having completed further feasibility work to better 

understand which low carbon technologies could be viable. This feasibility work was 

funded through the Salix Low Carbon Skills Fund, a complementary stream of funding to 

the PSDS fund, which supported public bodies to develop high quality applications with 

the support of external expertise if needed. 

2.5 The proposed upgrades and scope of the Council’s corporate buildings are included in the 

table below:  

46

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MID=3770#AI23422
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MID=3770#AI23422


 

 
 

 Heat pump 
installation 

Solar 
panels 

Upgrade 
lighting 
to LED 

Cavity 
wall 

insulation 

Loft 
insulation 

Improved 
Building 
Energy 

Management 
System 

Fan unit 
upgrades 

St. 
Peter’s 

Hill 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ 

South 
Kesteven 

House 

✗ ✗ ✓ ✗ ✗ ✗ ✓ 

Guildhall 
Arts 

Centre 

✓ ✓ ✗ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✗ 

Bourne 
Corn 

Exchange 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✗ ✓ 

2.6 The Council received a grant offer letter on the 11/2/21 to confirm that it had been 

successful in a grant application to the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme and has 

provisionally been allocated £950,370 to complete energy efficiency projects in four 

Council buildings, in addition to the Low Carbon Skills Funding already received. This 

grant offer was received much later than expected, where decisions on applications were 

initially suggested by Salix to be made and communicated in mid-December. This delay in 

notification of award of grant funding had an effect on the Council’s ability to mobilise the 

project and engage with contractors. 

2.7 On 1 March 2021, Full Council made the decision to accept the grant funding offer, and to 

approve the addition of £950,370 into the 2020/21 budget, to enter into an agreement with 

BEIS and/or Salix for the funding and to delegate authority for the scheme to the Director 

for Commercial and Operations.  

2.8 At the time, one of the major risks of the project was recognised to be the timescales for 

delivery of the project, which were set as the 30 September 2021 for the completion of all 

proposed elements as per the conditions of the grant. 

2.9 Since that time, South Kesteven District Council has been working with Engie 

Regeneration Ltd to progress the project, who have a wealth of experience in delivering 

specific energy efficiency retrofit projects and are one of the top-ranked suppliers on the 

Fusion 21 framework’s construction lot, which was identified as a compliant procurement 

route. They were briefed to develop a detailed design for each of the four sites for the 

proposed upgrades, building on work completed in October to propose the most 

appropriate energy efficiency upgrades for the buildings in question. 

2.10 The Council worked with Engie to establish regular project meetings to develop needed 

site information in more detail and liaise with key stakeholders. Site specific information 

was reviewed to understand proposals in greater detail, and individual sub-contractors 

were engaged by Engie to review each proposed technology upgrade. A proposed 

programme of works and updated risk register were produced for the project. 

47

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29268/PSDS%20Council%20Report.pdf


 

 
 

2.11 Issues were encountered initially with the proposed terms of contract and wider detail 

proposed by Engie to design in detail and deliver the project to completion. The terms of 

the agreement were not favourable and represented significant risk in several areas, and 

the legal advice received suggested significant pushback in a number of areas. 

Compromises on key elements were eventually offered to the Council, nevertheless the 

process of negotiation cost the project valuable time.  

2.12 Monthly updates were provided to Salix throughout the project to update on progress and 

issues. The delivery deadline of 30 September 2021 was reviewed, on the understanding 

that completing the full project by that date would be exceptionally difficult. Salix provided 

a letter of support, indicating that the project could be completed as soon as possible 

before 31 March 2022 at the very latest. 

2.13 As the project progressed, it also became necessary to alter the original scope of the 

proposals and buildings included. This reduced the allocated grant funding for the project, 

and further discussions were required with both Salix and the contractor to detail and 

agree the change of scope. An additional building was subsequently identified for 

upgrades, to make greater use of the original grant funding allocation. 

2.14 Some issues that the project encountered included: 

• It was necessary to appoint a third-party technical assurance role due to lack of in-
house expertise and capacity 

• Deadlines imposed by the need to seek Planning permission for buildings which are 
listed or in conservation areas 

• Significant pressure on supply of key equipment including air source heat pumps and 
solar PV panels, and pressure on availability of suitably qualified contractors 

2.15 One of the outcomes of the technical assurance appointment was a note on the suitability 

of the proposed air source heat pump heating system for several the buildings, due to the 

age and condition of the building fabric and the mechanical and electrical equipment in 

question. It was advised that sensitivity needs to be taken in the design of upgraded 

heating systems, due in particular to structure and age of the pipework systems which 

distribute heat around the buildings. It also noted a risk of the project going over budget, 

due to the need for remedial works to the buildings to optimise the heating systems. This 

was noted as a risk, as this remedial work may be outside the scope of the allocated 

PSDS funding. 

2.16 The supply chain pressures on some equipment as well as availability of experienced and 

qualified contractors to complete the work proved a significant difficulty for the project. 

Engie conveyed, as the project developed, the increasing lead times for equipment, 

particularly noting delays for orders of air source heat pumps and solar PV panels. These 

updates were shared with Salix in regular monthly reports as a key anticipated risk. These 

lead times escalated to delays reported by Engie in early August of up to 26 weeks for 

some air source heat pump units, and 20 weeks for some solar PV panels. Additionally, 

the availability and capacity of suppliers able to complete the work drastically decreased, 

as one of the impacts of the PSDS funding on the market alongside schemes targeting 

domestic energy efficiency running at the same time.  

2.17 At this point, the ability to deliver the project before March 2022 given the supply chain 

delays was significantly at risk. The Council discussed options in detail with Salix and 

reviewed the potential to reduce the scope of proposals to exclude the planned upgrade of 

48



 

 
 

building heating systems. However, the PSDS scheme has a core focus on the 

decarbonisation of heat, and the eligibility of the scheme and allowed technologies are 

built around that. This meant that an upgrade of buildings covering installation of solar PV 

panels, LED lighting, and additional insulation was not eligible under grant terms and 

conditions without the measures to decarbonise the heating. Salix were also not able to 

offer any further extension of a deadline beyond 31 March 2022.  

2.18 The combination of each of the above factors, particularly the availability of specific key 

equipment, frustrated original delivery timescales set out in the grant application, which 

expected project delivery by the end of September. The pressure from the supply chain 

availability of certain equipment in the end led to unachievable delivery timescales by the 

end of March 2022. As a result, Engie gave notice to withdraw from the contract in August 

2021 as completion of the project could no longer be assured by the necessary final date. 

2.19 The Council continued to review remaining options, including the potential to engage 

another contractor or contractors to complete each proposed element of the project. 

Nevertheless, this market engagement has found that contractors are engaged with work 

with other clients at this time, as well as stating some of the lead time delays for key 

equipment reported by Engie. Therefore, it is understood that entering into a new 

agreement with a contractor to complete the work by 31 March 2022 is high risk and 

comes with the risk that the Council may be responsible for any cost incurred after the end 

of March 2022, or the risk of an aborted project. 

2.20 At the time of writing this report, the project costs incurred so far are detailed as below. On 

discussion with Salix, the expectation is that these costs will be claimed from the grant 

funding allocation by the Council: 

Scope of work Supplier Total (£) 

Pre-project work to 
review detailed site 

information 

Engie Regeneration Ltd. 10,000 

Technical assurance and 
review of proposed 

design 

Rolton Group 1,890 (to date) 

Legal and procurement 
advice received 

Legal Services 
Lincolnshire 

5,001 (to date) 

TOTAL  16,891 

3 Conclusion 

3.1 The project encountered a sequence of challenges from the outset in seeking to remain 

within tight delivery timescales specified by Salix. The PSDS grant funding and other grant 

schemes targeting domestic energy efficiency and heat decarbonisation have contributed 

to an extremely busy market for contractors who are able to fulfil the works to a good 

standard and within the time specified by the grant funding terms and conditions.  

3.2 The major influence has been the increasing lead times for availability of some 

technologies, which eventually meant that delivery by March 2022 could no longer be 

assured. These supply chain issues for equipment have also been exacerbated by wider 

impacts such as Brexit and industry supply chain issues. 

49



 

 
 

3.3 At this time, to continue the project with the aim to complete before the end of March 2022 

is extremely high risk. There are significant and expanding delays within the air source 

heat pump market, as well as reported delays to the solar PV supply chain.  

4 Future opportunities 

4.1 Salix has made the Council aware that the third round of the Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme is due to open for applications later this autumn and suggested 

the Council’s outlined buildings remain good candidates for proposed works. Further 

future rounds of funding which target the decarbonisation of heat can be expected given 

the strategic need to improve energy efficiency of buildings across the public estate. 

4.2 This third round of funding maintains a focus on the decarbonisation of heat, which will 

mean upgrading heating systems where viable will be the key focus, with energy efficiency 

upgrades to support. 

4.3 The feasibility and work completed to date will be of continued use for shaping 

applications for future funding. The proposals are developed to a high level for each of the 

buildings included in the original scope. 

4.4 The budget from central government for the third round of PSDS funding is yet to be 

agreed, and the process is again expected to be extremely competitive with other public 

sector organisations also submitting grant applications. Nevertheless, it remains a strong 

opportunity for the Council to pursue as part of necessary decarbonisation works to meet 

declared carbon reduction targets. 

4.5 Wider grant schemes may be available to support or deliver decarbonisation works in the 

Council’s corporate buildings, which remains another opportunity to review.  

4.6 The Council maintains the option to develop a business case to deliver some or all of the 

works proposed using its own reserves. Some of the proposed upgrades stand on their 

own merit and have good financial payback periods, as well as delivering an energy and 

carbon reduction. 

4.7 The majority of the Council’s electricity and gas use sits outside of its corporate (non-

domestic) buildings, as outlined in the carbon footprint report discussed on 21 July 2020. 

Further opportunities exist to focus on these domestic buildings, using Council reserves or 

grant funding schemes including the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund. 

5 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

5.1 PSDS updates have been given to numerous Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees. 

6 Available Options Considered 

6.1 Continue market engagement and look to appoint contractors to complete the work by the 

stated deadline of 31 March 2022. While this has the potential to utilise the grant funding 

allocation, this option is understood to represent a significant risk that the project will not 

be delivered by the end date and additionally risk the Council needing to use its own 

financial reserves to complete the project.  There is also a risk that if the project fails to 

complete on time the grant funding could be reclaimed from the Council. 

6.2 Scale back the proposals to exclude upgrades to heating systems and bypass the issues 

of availability and lead times for air source heat pump equipment. While there may be 

technical capacity to complete the energy efficiency works exclusive of upgrades to 

50

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s26564/CarbonFootprintReportEnvOSC_Final.pdf


 

 
 

heating systems, this is not eligible for PSDS funding according to Salix criteria. Any 

formal extension to the project past 30 September 2021 must be granted by Salix in 

addition. 

7 Preferred Option 

7.1 Closedown the PSDS project and return the allocated grant funding to Salix, minus project 

costs incurred so far. 

8 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

8.1 There are significant delivery risks to complete before the Salix deadline. The Council can 

continue to review future opportunities to complete the work to corporate and wider 

buildings, using other grant funding where possible. 

9 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

9.1 Formally close the PSDS project, complete a lessons learned review and repay unspent 

grant funding. 

10 Financial Implications  

10.1 The grant was paid to the Council direct from BEIS by way of a Section 31 payment in the 

2020/21 financial year.  The 2021/22 accounts will properly record the repayment of the 

outstanding grant funding.  Although the Council will not benefit from this grant funding, 

there has been no additional financial cost to the Council for this project and the costs 

incurred will be reclaimed.  The Council will be open to apply for other grant funding 

opportunities in the future. 

Financial Implications reviewed by:Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard 

Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance and s151 Officer 

11 Legal and Governance Implications  

11.1 It was noted at the time of the Full Council decision that the legal risks arose from the 

grant conditions and it was important to ensure these were observed and met, this 

included specific completion deadlines.  Given the delivery timescales cannot be met, the 

closing of this project and repayment of the outstanding grant protects the Council from 

breaching the grant conditions and the risk of the grant funding being reclaimed in full.  

11.2 Legal Services Lincolnshire have supported officers throughout this project, specifically 

the legal review of the grant conditions and the terms and conditions associated with the 

contract to deliver the work. 

Legal Implications reviewed by:Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, 

Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

12 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

12.1 No significant issues identified. 

13 Risk and Mitigation 

13.1 This project close down removes the risk of the project implementation not meeting the 

grant condition completion deadlines and the danger that the Council is required to repay 

the grant funding in full. 

 

51



 

 
 

14 Community Safety Implications  

14.1 No significant issues identified. 

15 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

15.1 The original proposed scheme was expected to reduce the Council’s annual carbon 

emissions by approximately 230 tonnes a year, which represents a significant step 

towards the target of a reduction of carbon emissions of at least 30% by 2030. Whilst 

there are significant reported reductions from the 2020/21 carbon footprint, the Council 

should continue to look for opportunities to reduce electricity and in particular gas use in 

buildings. 

16 Other Implications (where significant)  

16.1 None. 

17 Background Papers 

17.1 21 July 2020 [item 61]: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s26564/CarbonFootprintReportEnvOS

C_Final.pdf  

17.2 1 March 2021 [item 77]: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29268/PSDS%20Council%20Report.

pdf  

17.3 8 June 2021 [item 10]: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29881/Climate%20Change%20Updat

e.pdf  

52

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s26564/CarbonFootprintReportEnvOSC_Final.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s26564/CarbonFootprintReportEnvOSC_Final.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29268/PSDS%20Council%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29268/PSDS%20Council%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29881/Climate%20Change%20Update.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29881/Climate%20Change%20Update.pdf


 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

28 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
 

 
Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Health and Safety Policy 

This report presents the updated Health and Safety Policy. This updated policy ensures 
compliance with the Council’s legal duties and covers the period 2021-23. The Council’s Health 
and Safety Policy is its statement of intent and commitment to managing any risk that may arise 
from its undertakings. 

Report Author 

Philip Swinton, Health and Safety, Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Lead 

 
01476 40 6555 

 phil.swinton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A high performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by Carol Drury  10 September 2021 

Approved by: Gary Smith (Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations) 

13 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations) 

14 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

It is recommended that Members of the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee: 

1. Endorse the appended Health and Safety Policy for the period 2021-23.  

2. Give comments or feedback to assist with the content and direction of the policy. 

53

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The policy is the Council’s statement of intent and details how it will manage health and 

safety and comply with relevant legislation, this includes the arrangements for ensuring 

sufficient resourcing and the duties and responsibilities of officers for implementing the 

policy. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Feedback on the content and structure has been received from the Corporate 

Management Team and incorporated into the policy. 

2.2 Whilst health and safety monitoring falls under the remit of the Governance and Audit 

Committee, Health and Safety policy falls under the remit of the Environment Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee.  Feedback received from the Members of the Environment Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee will be considered for inclusion in the Health and Safety Policy 

prior to its publication and dissemination across the Authority. 

2.3 In addition, the draft policy has been shared with the Chairmen of both the Governance 

and Audit Committee and, given the relevance to staff and working practices, the 

Employment Committee. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The requirement for the Authority to have a Health and Safety Policy is determined by 

statute therefore no other options are available for consideration. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 To note the contents of the policy and give any feedback to assist the senior management 

to continue to maintain robust health and safety arrangements for the Council. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 There is a legal requirement to create and maintain a Health and Safety Policy and to set 

out formally the arrangements for the management of risk. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Following the inclusion of any feedback from this Committee the update to the Health and 

Safety Policy will be communicated to all departments and relevant Senior Officers and 

made available online. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The actions arising from the Policy will be resourced from existing and established 

budgets that are approved by Council on an annual basis. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 require employers to put 

in place arrangements to control health and safety risks.  As a minimum the Council 

should have processes and procedures required to meet the legal requirements, including; 

A written health and safety policy (if you employ five or more people). 

54



 

 
 

Assessments of the risks to employees, contractors, customers, partners, and any other 

people who could be affected by your activities - and record the significant findings in 

writing (if you employ five or more people). Any risk assessment must be 'suitable and 

sufficient'. 

Arrangements for the effective planning, organisation, control, monitoring and review of 

the preventive and protective measures that come from risk assessment. 

Access to competent health and safety advice.   

Providing employees with information about the risks in your workplace and how they are 

protected; 

Instruction and training for employees in how to deal with the risks.   

Ensuring there is adequate and appropriate supervision in place.   

Consulting with employees about their risks at work and current preventive and protective 

measures.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Whilst Health and Safety requirements are necessary to manage risk, the Authority is 

mindful of its responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010. Therefore, due regard will be 

paid (where practicable) to any reasonable adjustments required by staff and Members in 

the delivery of their duties. No adjustment that would risk the safety of an employee, 

elected Member or contractor could be considered and therefore officers would work to 

ensure all suitable alternative options were explored to provide an equitable outcome for 

all. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included in 

this report. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None identified.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 There are limited implications for the Council’s declaration of climate emergency, however 

the increased procurement and disposal of PPE needed to operate throughout the 

pandemic does provide a small increase in the Council’s carbon footprint. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A: Health and Safety Policy 

 

 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and 
Safety Policy

Issued: Summer 2021
Review: 2023

57



Health and Safety PolicyHealth and Safety Policy

Contents
General Policy Statement 3

Organisation Structure 6

General Duties and Responsibilities 7
The Council 7
Chief Executive 7  
Management Team 7
Service Heads 9
Team Leaders/Supervisors 10
Employees 12

Lead for Health and Safety 14
Community Resilience 14
Safety Representatives 15

Arrangements 16
General 16
Performance 16
Consultation 16
Training instruction and supervision 17
Risk assessments 17
First Aid 18
Accident and Incident Reporting 18
Fire and Evacuation Procedure  18
Housekeeping 20

Slips, Trips and Falls 20
Smoking Policy 20
Work Equipment 20
Display Screen Equipment (DSE) 21
Driving and Workplace Transport 21
Contractors and Sub-Contractors 22
Hazardous Substances 22
Asbestos 24
Legionella 24
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 24
Manual Handling 24
Unacceptable Behaviour 26
Lone Working 27
Covid-19 27
Work Related Stress 28
Working Time 28
Health, Work and Wellbeing 28
Employee Acknowledgment 30

32

General Policy Statement

South Kesteven District Council recognises and fully 
accepts its responsibilities under the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 1974 and gives its full commitment to 
doing everything reasonably practicable to protect the 
safety, health and welfare of all its employees and other 
persons whose health and safety may be affected by 
the Council’s activities. The Council will take reasonable 
steps to ensure that all its contractors and partners in 
service provision conduct their activities in a manner 
that is safe and without risk to health.

High standards of health and safety are an integral 
part of our organisation’s vision, values, priorities 
and performance standards. We are committed to 
the continuous improvement of our health and safety 
systems, building a positive health and safety culture 
for the benefit of our employees, customers and the 
efficiency of our service delivery.

It is the policy of the Council, in so far as it is 
reasonably practicable:

• To provide and maintain equipment and systems of 
work that are safe and without risks to health.

• To ensure safety and the absence of risks to health 

in connection with the use, handling, storage and 
transport of articles and substances.

• To provide a competent source of health and safety 
advice to managers and to supply information, 
instruction, training and supervision as is necessary 
to provide for the health and safety at work of our 
employees.

• To maintain all places of work under the Council’s 
control, including means of access and egress, in a 
condition that is safe and without risk to health and 
to provide appropriate facilities for welfare.

• To provide for the identification and assessment of 
health and safety risks and to eliminate or control 
those risks.

• To comply with the statutory requirements as a 
minimum standard of health, safety and welfare of 
employees at work and all others towards whom we 
have statutory health and safety obligations.

• To ensure that the roles of managers towards health, 
safety and welfare are defined with responsibilities 
clearly assigned and communicated.

• To ensure that our employees are aware that they 
have a duty to work safely and to co-operate in all 
matters that affect their health and safety at work.

Health and Safety Policy

58



Health and Safety Policy

4 5

Health and Safety Policy

The Council recognises the link between efficiency, 
safety and health and aims to minimise the costs, losses 
and disruption which arise from work related accidents, 
ill health and dangerous occurrences.

Appreciating that consulting and working in partnership 
with our employees and trade unions on health and 
safety matters is important in creating and maintaining 
a safe and healthy work environment, the Council will 
maintain suitable arrangements for joint discussion and 
employee involvement.

In order to ensure that adequate financial, human and 
other resources are made available for the effective 
implementation of this policy, procedures and systems 
will be maintained to monitor health and safety 
performance with all necessary feedback provided to 
members, managers and staff representatives.

Each service, service team or work site, whichever 
is most appropriate, will produce the necessary 
documentation and maintain local health and safety 
arrangements i.e. the local roles and responsibilities 
for health and safety together with the systems and 
procedures to put into practice the Council’s Health 
and Safety Policy.  Managers are responsible for 
ensuring that the Council’s Health and Safety Policy and 
applicable corporate health and safety and local health 
and safety arrangements are brought to the attention of 
all employees, whether permanent or temporary, agency 
workers or those on fixed term contracts.

The Council’s current corporate health and safety 
priorities are to ensure the wider development of 
guidance to support managers and employees, and 
the promotion of health and safety incident reporting 
to ensure all relevant incidents are being captured and 
investigated with proportionate action then taken. 

Health and Safety is the responsibility of all Elected 
Members and all employees at every level.

Karen Bradford
Chief Executive

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Leader of the Council

59



6

Health and Safety Policy

7

Health and Safety Policy

Chief Executive

The Council
The Council will, via the Cabinet, ensure so far as is 
reasonably practicable, that sufficient resources are 
provided to comply with the duties imposed by health 
and safety legislation and encourage the achievement of 
exemplar status in health and safety matters.

Chief Executive
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for health 
and safety at the Council and is accountable to the 
elected members for the overall delivery of this policy.

Responsibilities include:
1. To advise the Council on arrangements, policies 

and resources necessary to fulfil the Council’s 
responsibilities for the policy.

2. Make suitable arrangements to ensure the 
implementation and administration of the Council’s 
instructions.

3. To ensure that health and safety matters are an 
integral part of Management Team meetings.

4. To ensure that the Management Team understands  
and implements its duties and responsibilities under 
this policy.

Management Team
The Management Team is responsible for ensuring its 
Health and Safety duties are carried out as outlined 
in the Policy and to obtain necessary support where 
identified to ensure compliance with Council Policy and 
Procedures.

Responsibilities include:
1. The implementation and compliance with statutory 

requirements in its area(s) of responsibility.
2. To ensure that this policy is implemented and 

administered within its area of responsibility.

It is the duty of Elected Members, the Chief Executive, the Management Team and Service Heads to ensure, so far as 
is reasonably practicable, that health and safety policy and legislation is adhered to by all and by those carrying out 
work for the Council. 

 The specific responsibilities of the Council, its members and employees under this policy are as follows:

General duties and  
responsibilities

Organisational Structure

Deputy Chief 
Executive

Director of 
Housing and 

Property
Assistant Chief 

Executive

Director of 
Commercial and 

Operations

Director of 
Culture and 

Growth

60



9

Health and Safety Policy

3. To make appropriate arrangements for advising the 
Council, through the Chief Executive, of the resources 
necessary to meet the health, safety and welfare 
requirements of their areas of responsibility.

4. To ensure that Heads of Service, Managers and Team 
Leaders understand and implement their duties and 
responsibilities under this policy and provide any 
necessary support and leadership.

5. To utilise, consult and co-operate with the Council’s’ 
Health and Safety Officer.

6. To support and provide leadership to the Council’s 
Health and Safety Group.

7. To attend health and safety training as advised.
8. To formally monitor the health and safety performance 

of all services within their area of control, including 
monitoring health and safety action plans and the 
health and safety management performance of 
Service Heads.

Service Heads
Service Heads are responsible for ensuring health and 
safety within their business area, both corporate matters 
and those specific to the business area, are effectively 
managed.

Responsibilities include:
1. The implementation of this policy and compliance 

with the statutory requirements in their area of 
responsibility.

2. The implementation of the controlled measures 
detailed within the Council’s generic risk 
assessments.

3. The preparation and revision as directed within 
the health and safety risk assessment procedure 
of service, specific risk assessments and any 
necessary safety arrangements including safe 
systems of work and method statements.

4. To ensure that persons managed by Service Heads 
are adequately instructed, trained and supervised in 
health and safety related matters.

5. To take such measures as are appropriate to ensure 
that contractors employed or others acting on behalf 
of the Council within their service are aware of 
their responsibilities under this policy and relevant 
legislation and also complete the contractor health 
and safety competency assessment or checklist as 
appropriate.

6. To ensure that safety equipment is provided and 
used and any safety instructions are observed.

7. To ensure that the workplace, machinery, plant and 
equipment are maintained in a safe condition and 
that all defects are rectified promptly.

8. To ensure that satisfactory completion of the 
Council’s accident and incident book including an 
investigation report of the incident, where necessary, 
and notification under the Reporting of Injuries, 
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 
(RIDDOR) will be completed by the Corporate Health 
and Safety Team.

9. To ensure that the Unacceptable Behaviour Policy 
and Procedure is complied with and employees are 
protected from such persons, so far as is reasonably 
practicable.

Health and Safety Policy

8

Attend health 
and safety 
training as 

advised

61



Health and Safety Policy

10

Health and Safety Policy

11

10. To take effective steps to ensure that persons under 
their control are familiar with procedures to be 
followed in case of fire or other emergencies.

11. To ensure a suitable number of trained fire check 
staff are provided in conjunction with Corporate 
Health and Safety.

12. To ensure that all new employees complete health 
and safety induction and attend the Council’s 
“Health and Safety for Employees” training or 
equivalent.

13. To ensure all statutory and advisory notices are 
displayed within the service area environs.

14. To ensure health and safety related documentation is 
available and current.

15. To ensure protective clothing or safety equipment 
is provided and the necessary arrangements are in 
place to store, issue and maintain it.

16. To maintain good standards of housekeeping, 
paying particular attention to storage arrangements 
and access to means of emergency escape.

17. To liaise and co-operate with the Council’s Health 
and Safety Officer in matters affecting the health and 
safety of an individual in relation to work.

18. To ensure that adequate arrangements are in place 
to protect members of the public and others who 
may be affected by the activities of the Council.

19. To carry out and complete the health and safety 
Service Manager self-audit and self-assessment 
as and when requested by the Health and Safety 
Officer. This will form part of the process of 
measuring the performance of the Council on health 
and safety.

20. To attend Health and Safety Training as advised 
by this policy or through the Corporate Health and 
Safety Advisor.

21. To formally monitor the health and safety 
performance of all operations and services under 
their control, including monitoring health and safety 
action plans and the health and safety management 
performance of managers and supervisors.

Team Leaders/Supervisors
The role and responsibilities of the Team Leaders and 
Supervisors will be directed to day to day operational 
implementation and checking of health and safety 
standards within their sphere of control; specifically Team 
Leaders and Supervisors are required to:

1. Ensure that they are aware of health and safety and 
other legal requirements and Council policies and 
expected standards applicable to the service area 
within their control.

2. Ensure that good housekeeping standards are 
maintained in their area of responsibility.

3. Risk assess and plan work activities including 
routine, non-routine and emergency situations in 
order to minimise the risk of accident or ill health.

4. Ensure that new employees receive relevant health 
and safety information and instruction as part of 
their induction training.

5. Highlight hazards to employees and ensure 
preventative and protective measures are 
understood.

6. Ensure mechanisms are in place for employees 

Ensure persons are 
familiar with fire or other 
emergency procedures.

62



Health and Safety Policy 2019

13

Health and Safety Policy

12

to report any health and safety problems, near 
miss incidents and work related injuries or ill 
health.  Ensure that reported matters are suitably 
investigated to prevent recurrence.

7. Ensure employees are competent by providing them 
with appropriate information, instruction, training 
and supervision to carry out their tasks safely. 
Ensure that staff attends training.

8. Check that health and safety rules, standards and 
controls are implemented and adhered to as part 
of their day to day supervisory duties and acting 
decisively should any shortcomings be identified.

9. Ensure protective clothing and equipment provided 
is available, worn and used where required.

10. Ensure that all staff are adequately supervised, 
particularly new, young and inexperienced staff.

11. Ensure that appropriate action is taken when 
personnel do not conform to safety requirements or 
rules and who work in an unsafe manner.

12. Ensure that the procedures are followed for the 
effective management of contractors when working 
for the Council.

This includes agreeing with the contractor the scope of 
the work, the associated hazards and risks, production 
of an agreed risk assessment and safe systems of work 
and monitoring the works to ensure compliance with the 
agreed safe systems.

Employees
All employees, are responsible for taking reasonable 
care for their personal health and safety and must not 
do anything which is likely to endanger themselves or 

other persons, either working on behalf of or affected by 
Council actions.

All employees will:
1. Familiarise themselves/be provided with access to 

and comply with this policy, relevant guidance and 
observe safety rules and procedures.

2. Comply with all instructions and training given by 
persons responsible for health and safety.

3. Wear and maintain in good order appropriate safety 
personal protective equipment and clothing supplied 
by the Council.

4. Report all accidents/incidents, dangerous 
occurrences and near misses within the Service 
Accident Book and ensure the Service Manager is 
informed.

5. Report all dangerous property, practices, equipment 
and plant to their manager. If no satisfactory action 
is taken, seek further advice from the Corporate 
Health and Safety Advisor and/or refer the matter 
in accordance with the Council’s Grievance and 
Whistle Blower procedures.

6. Report all incidents of unacceptable behaviour in 
accordance with the Unacceptable Behaviour Policy 
and Procedure.

7. Remain aware of the correct action to be taken in 
case of accident, fire or other similar emergency.

8. Provide assistance to visitors in the event of an 
emergency.

9. Revise all health and safety training sessions 
arranged on their behalf.

63



1514

Health and Safety PolicyHealth and Safety Policy

Community Resilience
The Council’s designated competent person for health 
and safety matters is the Health and Safety Officer 
(Corporate and Compliance). The health and safety 
advisory function is within Community Resilience and is 
provided through the Health and Safety Team.

Responsibilities include:
1. To assist in ensuring the Cabinet, CMT and 

relevant team leaders are adequately trained in 
the management of health and safety via Human 
Resources.

2. To ensure the provision of competent advice, 
guidance and assistance to managers at all levels of 
health, safety and welfare issues.

3. To promote the development and maintenance 
of health practices and be available for advice as 
necessary.

The Governance and Audit Committee within their 
frame of reference hold responsibility for monitoring 
the Annual Report on the effectiveness of the Council’s 
Health and Safety Policy.

4. To assist the Council and the Chief Executive in 
ensuring that the Council fulfils its responsibilities 
through this policy to employees and others who 
may be affected by the activities of the Council.

5. To produce the Council’s Safety Policy and modify 

as necessary with a formal review every two years.
6. To produce and review the Council’s generic Health 

and Safety Risk Assessments.
7. To advise on the application of any changes to 

statutory requirements affecting the Council.
8. To advise and assist in Health and Safety Training 

requirements.
9. To prepare and deliver an Annual Action Plan with 

target dates.
10. To prepare regular reports to the Management 

Team detailing the performance of the Council in 
health and safety matters.

11. To prepare the Corporate Health and Safety Annual 
Reports to the Management Team and relevant 
Committees.

12. To receive, maintain and analyse accident reports 
and work with managers to ensure that effective 
investigations are carried out and that measures 
are implemented to address the underlying and 
root causes.

13. To carry out and arrange health and safety audits 
of services and work activities on a frequency, 
determined by hazard and risk assessments.

14. To assist in the production of, and where 
necessary, produce guidance policies and 
procedures for health and safety matters.

15. To guide, instruct and, where necessary, participate 
in the training of Display Screen Equipment (DSE) 
to administrators and fire check staff.

Lead for Health and Safety
16. To participate in, lead and, where necessary,  

co-ordinate formal or informal safety meetings.
17. To co-ordinate the Council’s Health and 

Safety Group as led by the Service Heads for 
Environment.

18. To maintain a dialogue with all services, other local 
authorities and outside bodies (e.g. Fire Authority, 
Health and Safety Executive, etc.) on health and 
safety matters.

In fulfilling these responsibilities, the Health and Safety 
Team will have access to any Council work place.  In 
extreme circumstances where it is felt there is imminent 
danger; the Health and Safety Team shall have the 
right to insist that particular work or use of equipment 
should cease or be changed until steps can be taken to 
rectify the defects.  In addition, such equipment may be 
removed if deemed unsafe.  The use of “Stop Notices” 
will be employed. Stop Notices will not be removed until 
such time as the defect has been shown to be rectified.

Safety Representatives:
The Council recognises the appointment of safety 
representatives by recognised trade unions. The 
Council will provide safety representatives with the 
necessary time off with pay to attend training courses 
approved by the Trade Union in order to carry out 
their functions.  The Council will also provide such 
reasonable facilities as may be required to assist in the 
performance of these functions.

Functions include:
1. The investigation of potential hazards and 

dangerous occurrences at the workplace (whether 
or not they are drawn to their attention by the 
employee they represent).

2. The examination of the causes of accidents at the 
workplace.

3. The investigation of complaints by any employee 
represented; related to that employee’s health, 
safety or welfare at work.

4. To make representations to the Council on matters 
arising out of the above functions.

5. To make representations to the Council on general 
matters affecting the health, safety or welfare at 
work of the employees in the workplace.

6. To carry out workplace inspections.
7. To represent their members in employee 

consultations at the workplace with inspectors of 
the Health and Safety Executive and other enforcing 
authorities as required.

8. To receive information from inspectors in 
accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act.

9. To attend meetings of safety committees in 
connection with any of the above functions.

64



Health and Safety Policy

16

Health and Safety Policy

17

General
The following arrangements supplement the policy but 
are not intended to be exhaustive. Constant observation 
of the policy adherence to the rules and maintenance 
of good practices and procedures will prevent personal 
injury and in some cases property and equipment 
damage. This policy and other specific policy protocol 
procedures and guides detailed within this policy can be 
found on the health and safety page of the intranet.

Performance
Measurement of health and safety performance forms a 
key part of the ongoing health and safety arrangements 
of the Council. In order to achieve satisfactory standards 
of performance; effective health and safety management 
is placed at the heart of the operating culture.  To this 
end, opportunities to embed the management of health 
and safety will be part of the delivery of key corporate 
programmes and initiatives such as “Unlocking our 
Potential” and plans to enhance staff wellbeing. The 
following information is assessed to provide a baseline 
against which to measure progress and provide 
opportunities to learn and revise relevant operating 
factors:

• Attendance at Corporate Induction Health and 
Safety Training of 100% within six months of starting 
work (service specific health and safety induction is 
provided by line managers).

• All Service Heads and, where identified as appropriate, 

other Managers, to hold IOSH Managing Safely 
qualification.

• Near miss incidents recorded and assessed.
• Requests for advice to Health and Safety recorded.
• Monitoring of RIDDOR notifications.
• Number of employer’s liability insurance claims.
• Numbers and results of internal Health and Safety 

reviews of service specific areas and activities.
• Results of health and safety culture surveys.
• Accident rates for services.
• Working days lost.

Consultation
Employees will be consulted on health and safety 
matters, either directly through line management at team
/service meetings or 121s, through all staff briefings 
or by safety representatives. Employees can make 
suggestions to improve health and safety at any level of 
the organisation by whatever means or directly to the 
Corporate Health and Safety Team. Employees can raise 
concerns directly to the Corporate Health and Safety 
Advisor or by making use of the Council’s Whistleblowing 
scheme, details of which can be found on the Council’s 
intranet. 

Arrangements Training, Instruction and Supervisions
The Council recognises its responsibility for training 
instruction and supervision in health and safety for 
all employees. All employees must co-operate in 
undergoing training and instruction training.  Instruction 
and supervision must be provided, particularly where 
employees are new, transferred from other workplaces/
jobs or before using new equipment/materials. This may 
include areas such as manual handling, use of work 
equipment, use of chemicals and personal protective 
equipment. 

Where appropriate, the health and safety training 
session, “Health and Safety for Employees”, is available 
to all employees, but is mandatory for new employees as 
part of the induction process. New employees will also 
complete an induction checklist with their line manager 
upon employment, a copy of which will retained on 
the employees personal records. Refresher training is 
available for existing staff and needs to be arranged by 
the line manager.

Additional and specific job related health and safety 
training will be arranged as necessary through the 
Service Heads or member of the Management Team 
and identified through the risk assessment process. All 
Service Heads, and relevant managers where a need 
is identified, will train to at least IOSH Managing Safety 
level and achieve the relevant accreditation.  The Chief 
Executive, Management Team and relevant Cabinet 
Members will attend health and safety training as 
advised by the Corporate Health and Safety Team.

Risk Assessment
The Council is required under the Management of Health 
and Safety at Work Regulations to carry out health 
and safety risk assessments, in order to continue to 
fulfil the Council’s commitment to providing a safe and 
healthy work environment. To comply with regulations, 
the Council has provided and maintains a suite of risk 
assessments and support via the Health and Safety 
Team.

Section 1: 
Generic Risk Assessments which generally apply to 
a group of workers as a whole over several locations.  
It is the responsibility of the Health and Safety Team 
to review, alter, amend and add to these generic risk 
assessments as necessary.

Section 2: 
Guidance on completing risk assessments is available on 
the Councils intranet, through the Health and Safety page.

All employees must be made aware of the significant 
findings of the risk assessments and their responsibilities 
for ensuring that the control measures are suitably 
implemented. Awareness will be provided initially as 
part of any new employee’s induction and then through 
training.  

After any incident or on an annual basis, assessments 
must be reviewed and any changes to the assessment 
relayed to all staff appraisals, meetings or any other such 
measures as deemed appropriate by the Service Heads 
or member of Management Team.

65



18

Health and Safety Policy

19

Health and Safety Policy

Qualified first 
aiders or appointed 
persons are 
provided to cover 
the offices and 
areas of work 
activity.

First Aid
Qualified first aiders and/or appointed persons are 
provided to cover the offices and areas of work activity 
of the Council. Names of first aiders and the location 
of suitably stocked first aid boxes are displayed on 
notices on the health and safety notice boards. Portable 
first aid kits will be provided within Council vehicles as 
determined by the relevant Service Head or member of 
the Management Team.

In the case of an injury requiring first aid and the 
absence of qualified first aiders; first aid should not 
be administered although the contents of the first aid 
box may be offered to the injured person, pending 
appropriate treatment. First aid treatment will only be 
offered by trained officers.

Accident and Incident
All accidents, incidents and near misses, which have any 
implications with respect to health, safety and welfare, 
must be recorded and reported in accordance with the 
Council’s Accident and Incident Guide. All accidents 
must be reported using the Corporate Accident and 
Incident Form found on the Council intranet.  

All accidents, incidents and near misses must be 
thoroughly investigated by the supervisor/line manager 
in order to identify measures required to prevent 
a re-occurrence. In the case of serious/significant 
incidents, then the Health and Safety Team can assist 

with investigations. It is a legal requirement under 
the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR) to report certain 
specified accidents and work related ill health. All forms 
to be completed and returned to the Corporate Health 
and Safety Team, who will decide on RIDDOR.

Fire and Evacuation Procedure
All employees are responsible for ensuring that they are 
fully aware of the Fire and Emergency Procedures for 
their place of work. Trained Fire Check Staff are available 
within all service/sites and tasked with duties which 
include carrying out fire safety audits and co-ordinating 
evacuation in the event of an emergency. Detailed 
information will be set out in the Council’s Fire Safety 
Protocol and Procedure. All employees are required to 
complete the e-learning online fire safety training. 

Bomb Threat and Suspect Package/Letter Procedure 
- a guide for Employees is available on the intranet. 
Employees should ensure that they are aware of this 
guidance and the action to be taken in the event of an 
emergency.

66



20 21

Health and Safety Policy Health and Safety Policy

Housekeeping
Everyone has a vital part to play in ensuring good 
standards of housekeeping. It is essential to conform to 
the arrangements for:

• Items not in immediate use to be placed in proper 
storage, to keep floor/ground area clear.

• Storage and disposal of waste.
• Correct positioning of furniture, equipment and 

storage facilities.
• Maintaining corridors, access, egress and emergency 

escape routes free from obstruction and trip hazards 
at all times.

• Fire doors marked as such should be kept closed at 
all times as directed by the door signage.

Slips, Trips and Falls
Slips, trips and falls are the most common cause of 
major accidents at work and can happen for any number 
of reasons. In order to prevent slips, trips and falls the 
Council and, where appropriate, employees must ensure 
that:

• Flooring is suitable for the type of work activity and 
is also fitted and cleaned correctly and maintained in 
good order.

• Stairs have high visibility, non-slip square-nosed 
edgings to steps, suitable hand rails and steps of 
equal height and width.

• Contamination caused by anything that ends up 
on the floor, for example, water, oil, dust is cleaned 
effectively and quickly.

• There are effective levels of housekeeping in order to 
avoid obstacles, to include suitable walkways through 
the workplace, no trailing cables nor obstructions and 
suitable storage space.

• There is an effective cleaning regime which 
incorporates good communication, training and 
supervision, with the correct cleaning products and 
equipment.

• There is a positive ‘see it, sort it!’ attitude and 
consideration is given to how movement is carried out 
throughout work areas.

• Consideration is given to environmental issues 
such as lighting (natural or otherwise), the weather, 
humidity, condensation, etc.

• Suitable footwear/gloves for the work activity are 
worn and, where appropriate, provided by the Council 
as determined by a risk assessment.

No-Smoking Policy
The Council is committed to fully complying with the 
smoke-free legislation. The Council operates a  
No-Smoking Policy, which establishes a set of standards 
for ensuring a smoke-free working environment. In 
addition, Service Heads Guidance is provided to ensure 
employees and visitors to the Council adhere to the 
legislation and Council policy. This guidance and policy 
also applies to Council vehicles.

Work Equipment
Any work equipment which is used by an employee 
at work is covered by the Provision and Use of Work 
Equipment Regulations (PUWER) and Service Heads or 

members of the Management Team must ensure that the 
equipment is:

1. Suitable for the intended use.
2. Suitably controlled through a risk assessment which 

clearly identifies control measures to be implemented 
to make it safe for use.

3. Maintained in safe conditions and where appropriate 
inspected to ensure this remains the case. Records 
will be kept to this effect.

4. Used only by people who have received adequate 
information, instruction and training, which is 
recorded for the individual.

5. Accompanied by suitable safety measures, e.g. 
protective devices, markings and warnings. 

Display Screen Equipment (DSE)
In order to comply with the Health and Safety (Display 
Screen Equipment) Regulations, Service Managers or 
member of Management Team will ensure:

1. That all staff carry out the online DSE self - 
assessment, including the training programme.

2. Where issues are raised by staff, these are dealt with 
accordingly through their line management or where 
appropriate referred for specialist advice through the 
Corporate Health and Safety Advisor.

3. Eye and eyesight tests are made available to DSE 
users.  Employees will be advised of this arrangement 
through the DSE online self- assessment process. 
Eye examination fees and any contribution towards 
the provision of spectacles or their adaptations, 

where this is necessary for work purposes, is co-
ordinated though Organisational Development.

Driving and Workplace Transport
• Drivers; all employees, where driving is part of their 

work, should be competent, trained and fit and 
healthy so as not to put themselves or others at risk. 

 Detailed responsibilities for drivers acting on behalf 
of the Council are set out in a Driver Guidance 
document.  

 This includes checks of licences, MOT, penalty 
points, business use insurance and is overseen 
by the relevant Service Heads or member of the 
Management Team. Employees should satisfy the 
eyesight requirements set out in the Highway Code.

No employee should drive or operate vehicles if they have 
taken alcohol or illegal drugs or have reason to believe 
that they may be under the effect of alcohol or illegal 
drugs. Employees must inform their line manager if they 
are taking any medication, whether over-the-counter or 
prescription, which may affect their ability to drive safely.

It is illegal to use a mobile phone whilst driving and 
drivers could face legal action through the police and/or 
additional disciplinary action by the Council.  
Hands- free facilities may be available within vehicles or 
to drivers; however, the use of hands-free devices should 
be monitored as drivers may be distracted by calls taken 
while driving. In the absence of a hands-free facility, 
mobile phones should be set to answer phone and taken 
when it is safe and legal to do so.

67



22

Health and Safety Policy

23

Health and Safety Policy

Young drivers and those with limited experience will be 
offered support and coaching and their progress will 
be monitored through the relevant Service Heads or 
member of the Management Team.

• Vehicles; where vehicles are provided by the 
Council, these will be fit for purpose and maintained 
roadworthy order. Planned and preventative 
maintenance of Council vehicles will be carried out in 
accordance with manufacturer’s recommendations. 
Additional basic safety checks must be carried out 
by drivers, as directed by the Council. The Council 
will maintain appropriate levels of vehicles’ insurance. 
Where employees use their own vehicles for work 
they should maintain the vehicle in satisfactory 
roadworthy condition and ensure they have an 
appropriate level of vehicle insurance to include 
business use at all times, in accordance with SKDC’s 
Driver Guidance.

• Workplace; the Council will ensure that traffic 
routes and surfaces under its control are suitable for 
purpose and not uneven, potholed, sloped or slippery. 
Suitable and sufficient lighting will be maintained and, 
where necessary, signs, signals and markings will be 
provided.

Those employees responsible for the receipt of deliveries 
should ensure that arrangements are in place so these 
are carried out in a safe manner with minimal risk to 
pedestrians, in particular where the reversing of vehicles 
cannot be avoided.

Contractors and Sub-contractors
Service Heads or a member of the Management Team 
engaging the contractor will ensure that contractors 
and sub-contractors employed by, or on behalf of, the 
Council or any other individuals or organisations acting 
on behalf of the Council, have the ability and resources 
for effectively managing health and safety, protecting all 
who may be affected.

In order to determine competency of contractors prior to 
being offered and commencing work, either the Health 
and Safety Competency Assessment of Contractors 
or the Health and Safety Contractor Checklist must be 
completed in accordance with the Health and Safety for 
Contractors Guidance to Managers.

The responsible client officer must ensure that every 
contract awarded contains a provision that safe methods 
of work will be employed and full compliance with the 
health and safety legislation is expected. In addition, 
they should also ensure safety matters are monitored in 
order to ensure compliance with safe working methods 
and health and safety legislation. Where the contractor 
fails to meet the health and safety standards, suitable 
penalties may be instigated.

Hazardous Substances
Service Heads or a member of the Management Team 
engaging the contractor will ensure that all substances 
which require an assessment under the Control of 
Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations (COSHH) 
receive an assessment. An assessment form contained 
can be found on the intranet and must be completed. 
All control measures detailed within the assessment will 
be implemented and brought to the attention of those 
employees who may be affected. 

Employees 
responsible for the 
receipt of deliveries 
should ensure they 
are carried out in a 
safe manner.

68



Health and Safety Policy

24 25

Health and Safety Policy

Asbestos
Asbestos was extensively used as a building material 
in the UK from the 1950s through to the mid 1980s. 
It was used for a variety of purposes and was ideal 
for fireproofing and insulation. Asbestos materials in 
good condition are safe unless fibres become airborne.  
The three main diseases caused by asbestos are 
mesothelioma, lung cancer and asbestosis. These 
diseases do not cause an illness immediately, but 
become evident in years to come.

The Control of Asbestos Regulations covers the 
prohibition of asbestos; the control of asbestos at 
work and asbestos licensing.  In order to comply with 
this legislation, the Council operates an Asbestos 
Management Policy and associated Risk Assessment 
Procedure. In addition the Council carries out surveys 
of Council owned domestic and non-domestic premises 
respectively in order to demonstrate the “duty to 
manage” requirements of the legislation.

Legionella
Legionella bacteria is commonly encountered in 
environmental water sources and may eventually 
colonise within poorly maintained and vulnerable water 
systems  such as, cooling towers, hot and cold water 
systems and other plant systems, which may use or 
store water.  When colorisation occurs in significant 
numbers within a system capable of producing a water 
mist spray or droplets the bacteria can become airborne 
and be subsequently inhaled by an individual. In order 
to minimise the risk from Legionella, the Council has in 

place a Legionella Management protocol, which clearly 
states arrangements that must be in place for all Council 
buildings to include:

• Water hygiene management plan
• Water hygiene risk assessments
• Written scheme of control
• Testing and monitoring 
• Training
• Emergency procedures and actions

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)
PPE will be issued to all employees, where a risk or 
COSHH assessment details this requirement. The 
Service Manager or member of Management Team in 
conjunction with the employee will ensure that PPE is:

• Appropriate for the risk/s involved
• Capable of fitting the wearer correctly
• Not affecting the state of health of the wearer

All employees should wear appropriate safety equipment 
for their work where provided and notify their line 
manager if this becomes damaged, defective or lost. 
The Service Head or member of Management Team 
should retain records in relation to the provision of PPE 
to include the date of issue, nature of equipment, training 
given in use and any date for replacement.

Manual Handling
The Manual Handling Operations Regulations apply to a 
wide range of manual handling activities including lifting, 

All employees 
should wear 
appropriate safety 
equipment for 
their work

69



27

Health and Safety PolicyHealth and Safety Policy

lowering, pushing, pulling or carrying.  The load may be 
either inanimate, such as a box or a trolley, or animate,  
a person or animal. Work related Musculoskeletal 
Disorders (MSDs) include problems such as, low back 
pain, joint injuries and repetitive strain injuries of various 
sorts and are often associated with a manual handling 
operation.

Operations Regulations set no specific requirements 
such as weight limits, although they do establish the 
following:

• Avoid hazardous manual handling operations so 
far as is reasonably practicable, for example, by 
redesigning the task to avoid moving the load or by 
automating or mechanizing the process.

• Make a suitable and sufficient assessment of any 
hazardous manual handling operations that cannot be 
avoided.

• Reduce the risk of injury from those operations so 
far as is reasonably practicable, for example the 
provision of mechanical assistance such as a sack 
trolley or hoist.

All manual handling tasks with a significant risk of injury 
will be suitably risk assessed and control measures 
implemented where required and reasonably practicable 
in accordance with the Manual Handling Operations 
Regulations and the Council’s generic risk assessment. 
Where the need for an assessment is identified, this 
will be carried out by the Service Heads or member of 
Management Team and where necessary advice will be 
sought through the Corporate Health and Safety Team. 
The assessment will cover the task, individual capability, 

the load, the working environment and other factors such 
as PPE. Consideration will be given during any such 
assessment to the Health and safety Executives (HSE) 
Manual Handling Assessment Chart (MAC).

The MAC tool will assist in identifying high-risk manual 
handling operations and the completion of the risk 
assessment.  The assessment will identify, where specific 
information and training on manual handling operations, 
injury risk and prevention is needed for employees. 
Completed assessments will be recorded within section 
3 of the Service Site Risk Assessment Manual.

Unacceptable Behaviour
The Council will take all practical measures available to 
reduce the incident of unacceptable behaviour directed 
towards employees and those acting on its behalf during 
or as a result of the work activity.  People may act out 
of character in times of trouble or distress, particularly 
following upsetting or distressing circumstances. The 
Council does not view behaviour as unacceptable just 
because a person is forceful or determined. However, 
the action of a person who is angry, demanding and/or 
persistent may result in unreasonable demands on the 
Council or unacceptable behaviour towards employees. 
Unacceptable behaviours include:

• Aggressive or abusive behaviour, which is not 
restricted to acts of aggression that may result in 
physical harm.

• Unreasonable demands, the use of inappropriate 
or threatening and offensive language in any 
communications be they in person or email and 
phone conversation.

26

• Unreasonable persistence where for example these 
are taking up an unreasonable amount of time and 
resources.

The Council operates an Unacceptable Behaviour Policy 
and Procedure. The procedure clearly states the way in 
which a report made by an employee will be addressed 
by all those with responsibility. Staff guidance notes and 
training is available. Training includes, customer care 
and quality, dealing with difficult customers and coping 
with aggression and violence within the workplace and 
is available to employees and elected members upon 
request or when the need is identified through a risk 
assessment Service Heads or a member of the Service 
Management Team are responsible for ensuring that 
employees are aware of the policy and procedure and 
provide appropriate support and investigation following 
a report of unacceptable behaviour.  As part of the 
Unacceptable Behaviour Policy and Procedure the 
Council operates an “Exercise with Caution List”, which 
contains details of persons who have carried out acts of 
unacceptable behaviour towards Council employees and 
others acting on its behalf. The list also details persons 
provided through agreed third parties such as, the Police 
Probation Services, Social Services and Health Authority. 
The Exercise with Caution List can be accessed on 
Monty, but must be treated as highly confidential. 

Lone Working
Lone workers face particular risks when carrying out work 
activities outside the security of Council premises. Service 
Heads or member of Management Team will at a minimum 
ensure the implementation of the control measures detailed 
within the Councils Lone Working Operation Procedure. 

 Further training, instruction and guidance notes will 
be provided through the Service Head or member 
of Management Team, particularly where employees 
are involved in cash handling or contentious matters. 
Arrangements will also be put in place by Service Heads 
and members of Management Team in order to ensure 
the protection of employees working within Council 
owned premises out of normal hours of opening.

Covid-19
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact 
across the world. South Kesteven District Council is 
committed to taking all necessary actions to protect the 
health, safety and welfare of all those who work for and 
interact with SKDC. This includes the assessment of 
risk with all affected activities and buildings to prevent 
the spread of Covid-19,  the provision of information 
and guidance to staff and PPE as required. Staff who 
can work from home are encouraged to do so and are 
provided with IT equipment and solutions to support 
this process including guidance on home working and 
tips on maintaining physical and mental health. All home 
working staff will also undertake a regular home working 
risk assessment. The Head of each service or a member 
of the service management team are responsible for 
ensuring that all home working staff undertake these as 
required.  The Corporate Health and Safety team will 
support and advise all staff as required

Work Related Stress
Well designed, organised and managed work helps 
to maintain and promote individual health and well-
being. Where there has been insufficient attention to 
job design, work organisation and management, the 

70



29

Health and Safety Policy

28

benefits associated with “good work” could be lost. One 
common result is work related stress. Work related stress 
means the process which arises where work demands of 
various types and combinations exceed an employee’s 
capacity and capability to cope. The Health and Safety 
Executives (HSE) definition of work related stress is: 
“The adverse reaction people have to excessive demand 
placed on them at work”. Staff have access to a range of 
support mechanisms including the Employee Assistance 
Program, trained mental health first aiders and regular 
1-2-1 meetings were workloads can be reviewed. The 
Council also operates a flexible working policy to support 
staff with finding a work life balance.

Stress is not an illness; it is a state and a natural reaction 
to too much pressure.  If stress becomes too excessive 
and prolonged, mental and physical illness may 
develop. Signs of stress in individuals include emotional 
symptoms, mental symptoms and changes in behaviour.  
Everyone has a part to play, at every level of the Council, 
in recognising changes in behaviour, being aware that 
something is wrong with an individual or group and 
taking prompt action in dealing with work related stress.

Why Should Action Be Taken?
• Benefits to individuals, teams and the organisation
• Legal requirements
• Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

Policy and arrangements for dealing with stress are co-
ordinated by Organisational Development. The Employee 
Assistance Programme (EAP) is available to all employees 
in order to provide confidential guidance or advice on either 
personal or work related issues as requested.  In addition, 
the Council operates an Attendance Management Policy 
with full management and employee participation.

Working Time
The Council will comply with the relevant working 
time requirements. Advice can be obtained from the 
Corporate Health and Safety Team.  

Procedures are in place to cover home visits, absentee 
contact, monitoring arrangements where necessary 
support and return to work arrangements.

Health, Work and Wellbeing
The Council through this Health and Safety Policy will 
contribute towards the Governments Health, Work and 
Wellbeing Programme, which aims to prevent people 
becoming injured or ill; keeping them healthy in work and 
providing accessible support to enable them to remain/
return to work more quickly.

Wellbeing for an Organisation Needs:
Effective leadership: Clearly communicating and 
leading by example to deliver the health and safety goals 
of the organisation.
Positive environment: Involving staff in health and 
safety decision making and encouraging and responding
to feedback and suggestions to create an inclusive
environment and promote cooperation.
Focus on health: Considering both the physical and
mental health demands which staff and Elected
members may face and removing, so far as is reasonably
practicable, or controlling and supporting all those acting
for SKDC to improve health and mental wellbeing.
 
South Kesteven District Council is committed to
providing a safe and healthy working environment
for employee’s, Elected Members, service users and
partners in service provision. The Council will continue
to seek improvements in safety and reduction of risk

through the regular review and audit of safety 
controls and procedures. South Kesteven District 
Council will ensure that all those under the charge 
of this policy understand their role in supporting 
and implementing the Councils safety culture and 
values. Managers must retain a signed copy of the
acknowledgment and address any safety 
questions or concerns raised either directly or with 
support from Corporate Health and Safety.
 

Health and Safety Policy

71



30 31

Health and Safety Policy Health and Safety Policy

• I acknowledge that I have read and understood the Council’s Health and Safety Policy booklet.  
• I have been made aware of my responsibilities and the arrangements in place ensure my health and safety whilst at 

work. 
• I have raised the following health and safety matters with my Line Manager, which they will address as appropriate:

Employee acknowledgement Induction checklist completed:

Employee Name:      Signature:

Line Manager Name:      Signature:

Business:  

Service Head/ Management Team Name:  

Date:  

Health and Safety for employees or equivalent attended:

72



South Kesteven District Council
St Peter’s Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ

Office Number: 01476 406 555
Health & Safety Compliance Officer:  
Philip Swinton
phil.swinton@southkesteven.gov.uk

02
91

6R
T_

8.
21

73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

28 September 2021 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 
Enforcement 2021-22 

This report presents the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement for 2021-22. 
 
 

 

 

Report Author 

Javier Garcia, Interim Public Protection Manager   

 
01476 406080 

 javier.garcia@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Clean & Sustainable 
Environment 

Regulatory All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director, Operations 
and Public Protection   

28 July 2021 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

9 August 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

20 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the South Kesteven District Council Work Plan for Food and Health and 
Safety Enforcement for 2021-22.  

 

75

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires each Local Authority to produce an annual 

Food Work Plan in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Agency’s Framework 

Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement.  The framework dictates the 

structure and content of the workplan. 

1.2 The work plan is predominantly produced to satisfy the requirements of the FSA, but also 

demonstrates how the council will comply with the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 

National Local Authority Enforcement Code and incorporates work undertaken on other 

associated activities, including infectious disease control and the regulation of private water 

supplies. 

1.3 During the Covid-19 pandemic, the enforcement of new legislation that initially restricted 

businesses from opening and then regulated their phased re-opening as part of the 

Government Roadmap has been carried out by the commercial team supported by officers 

from the wider environmental health service. Officers continue to support food businesses 

to stay compliant with food hygiene and safety requirements and best respond to the 

impacts of COVID-19.  Government grant funding has enabled the provision of additional 

staff resource to support this work.  

1.4 The FSA has recognised the ongoing pressures that the pandemic is placing on Local 

Authority food teams, as well as the impacts of changes in the hospitality sector and wider 

food industry. In response, they produced a Covid-19 Local Authority Recovery Plan which 

details the way forward to re-start the regulatory delivery system for the highest risk 

businesses and providing greater flexibility for lower risk businesses wherever possible.  

1.5 The Recovery Plan details the resumption of planned interventions and other activities at 

food establishments through to 2023/24.  The South Kesteven District Council workplan 

provides for resources to be targeted in line with the requirements of the Recovery Plan but 

cannot fully account for any potential future Covid-19 impacts which may affect its delivery.   

1.6 The South Kesteven District Council Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 

Enforcement 2021-22 is at Appendix 1. This plan was approved by the Cabinet Member 

for Commercial and Operations by a Non-Key Decision on 26 July 2021.  

2 Food Businesses in South Kesteven 

2.1 As of 1 April 2021, there were 1435 food businesses registered in the district.  These are 

categorised according to the FSA’s requirements, with the frequency of inspection or 

intervention determined by an assessment of a number of elements.  These include; 

current compliance, confidence in management, the type of food and processing, the 

number of consumers potentially at risk and risk of contamination.  The higher the overall 

score the greater the frequency of intervention.  Category A businesses pose the highest 

risk and are subject to 6 monthly interventions through to category E which pose the 

lowest risk and are subject to interventions every 3 years.  This means that efforts can be 

focused on those businesses with poorer standards, or which represent the greatest risk 

to people’s health. 

2.2 While a range of food businesses are inspected, those which supply food directly to the 

consumer e.g. restaurants, takeaways, cafés, sandwich shops, pubs, hotels, 

supermarkets and other retail outlets are given a rating under the FSA’s Food Hygiene 

Rating Scheme (FHRS).   The rating given ranges from ‘0’ at the bottom (urgent 

76



 

 
 

improvement necessary) to ‘5’ at the top (very good).  A new rating is given each time a 

business is inspected to check their compliance with food hygiene law.  The primary aim 

of the scheme is to improve public health protection and reduce the incidence of food 

borne illness, however, it also helps residents and visitors make informed choices and has 

the potential to improve standards, drive business competition and growth.   

2.3 Food businesses in South Kesteven generally perform well, with 98.5% of rated business 

considered ‘generally satisfactory’, ‘good’ or ‘very good’ (equivalent to ratings of 3, 4 or 5). 

2.4 While the Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in the closure of some businesses, many have 

successfully diversified and adapted, changed working practices or ownership.  This has 

required additional support by officers to help them address the additional challenges.  In 

2020-21, 118 new food businesses registered in the district, many of these were home 

based activities such as cake makers and home caterers. These businesses have been 

prioritised for intervention as the risks associated with them remain largely unknown until 

the initial inspection has been undertaken. 

3 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

3.1 This report is presented to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 

information.  

4 Available Options Considered 

4.1 This report is for information only.  

5 Preferred Option 

5.1 This report is for information only.   

6 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

6.1 The workplan is produced to satisfy the duty held by the Council under the FSA Framework 

Agreement and HSE National Local Authority Enforcement Code and is provided to the 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee for information.  

7 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

7.1 The workplan is published on the Council’s website as required by the FSA.  

8 Financial Implications  

8.1 The delivery of the workplan can be met from budgetary resources allocated in the 2021/22 

budget framework.  Additional external funding to support Outbreak Management is also 

being utilised to support additional staff resource in this area.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

9 Legal and Governance Implications  

9.1 The Council is required under the FSA Framework Agreement and the HSE National Local 

Authority Enforcement Code to produce a work plan for food and health and safety 

enforcement. 

9.2 The work plan is an essential performance management and review document and shows 

the commitment of the Council to food law and health and safety enforcement as required 

by legislation. 

77



 

 
 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

10 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

10.1 No significant impacts have been identified.  Any enforcement action is taken in accordance 

with the council’s enforcement policies.  

11 Risk and Mitigation 

11.1 No significant risks have been identified as a result of this report.  

12 Community Safety Implications  

12.1 This report is not considered to have any community safety implications.   

13 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

13.1 Planned inspections are undertaken in the most efficient manner possible to reduce un-

necessary travel and vehicle use. 

14 Other Implications (where significant)  

14.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

15 Background Papers 

15.1  Non-Key Decision - Food and Health and Safety Enforcement Workplan 2021-22  

16 Appendices 

16.1 Appendix 1 – South Kesteven District Council Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 

Enforcement 2021/22 

 

 

 

 

 

78

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1166


1 
 

 

Work Plan for  

Food and Health 

and  

Safety E 

2019/2020  

ork Plan for  

Food and Health 

and  

Safety 

Enforcement 

2020/2021  

1

 
 

 

Work Plan for  

Food and Health and  
Safety Enforcement 

2021/2022  
 

79



2 
 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Service aims and objectives .................................................................. 3 

1.2 Links to corporate objectives and strategies ................................................ 3 

2. Review of 2020/2021 and Estimated Work for 2021/2022 ................................ 4 

2.1 Food hygiene ................................................................................... 4 

2.2 Infectious disease investigation (ID) ......................................................... 4 

2.3 Health and safety ............................................................................... 5 

2.4 Private water supply regulation (PWS) ...................................................... 5 

2.5 Enforcement during 2020/21 .................................................................. 5 

2.6 Variations from the 2020/21 Work Plan ..................................................... 6 

3. Background ..................................................................................... 7 

3.1 Authority profile ................................................................................. 7 

3.2 Organisational structure ....................................................................... 7 

3.3 Scope of the service ........................................................................... 7 

3.4 Accessing the service .......................................................................... 8 

3.5 Enforcement policy ............................................................................. 8 

4. Service Delivery ................................................................................ 8 

4.1 Programmed work .............................................................................. 8 

4.2 Non programmed work ...................................................................... 12 

5. Resources ..................................................................................... 15 

5.1 Financial ....................................................................................... 15 

5.2 Staffing allocation ............................................................................ 15 

5.3 Staff training and development ............................................................. 16 

5.4 Quality assessment .......................................................................... 16 

Appendix 1 Programmed food safety intervention work for 2021/2022 ................... 17 

 

  

80



3 
 

1. Introduction 
 
The purpose of the work plan is to set out how the Council delivers official controls and fulfils 
its duties under food safety, health and safety, public health and drinking water legislation. It 
is based on the elements required by the Food Standards Agency (FSA) Framework 
Agreement but covers all areas work undertaken by the Environmental Health, Commercial 
Team. 

1.1 Service aims and objectives 
 
The food and health and safety functions make an important contribution towards making the 
district a healthy place to live, work and visit. 
 
The work of the service: 
 

• Supports the economy and business growth in South Kesteven 

• Protects and enhances the local environment 

• Ensures the effective control of risks to the safety, health and wellbeing of our residents  

• Ensures a proportionate, risk-based, targeted approach to enforcement while 
supporting businesses 

1.2 Links to corporate objectives and strategies 
 
The Council has recently agreed a new Corporate Plan for 2020-2023 setting out its vision 
and priorities. 
 
Five priorities are highlighted in the Corporate Plan, based on an analysis of the current 
performance of SKDC both as a district and as a council, and emerging opportunities and 
challenges: 
 

• Growth and the Economy 

• Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

• Healthy and Strong communities 

• A Clean and Sustainable Environment 

• A High Performing Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



4 
 

2. Review of 2020/2021 and Estimated Work for 2021/2022 

2.1 Food hygiene 
PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 

2020/21 
Actual  
2020/21 

Estimated 
2021/22 

Food 
interventions  

High risk (Cat A-
C) 

177 133 97 

Medium risk (Cat 
D) 

245 190 197 

Low risk (E and 
outside) 

146 140 156 & 70 

Outstanding 
interventions  

High risk (Cat A-
C) 

N/A 85 82 

Medium risk (Cat 
D) 

N/A 103 105 

Low risk (E and 
outside) 

N/A 81 112 

Food and environmental sampling  5 0 5 

Export audit visits 0 0 0 

 

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2020/21 

Actual 
2020/21 

Estimated 
2021/22 

General  

Export certificates 25 4 10 

Revisits  40 11 40 

Advice  N/A 1 10 

Business advice  20 26 20 

Complaints  80 116 120 

Other requests  250 273 100 

New registration  125 219 125 

Food hygiene 
rating scheme 
(FHRS) 

Enquiries  10 1 10 

Re-score re-
inspections  

5 1 5 

Appeal requests  1 0 1 

Right to reply 1 0 1 

2.2 Infectious disease investigation (ID) 
 

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2020/21 

Actual 
2020/21 

Estimated 
2021/22 

Official notification 150 70 150 

Unofficial notification 20 0 0 

Investigations & enquiries  150  779* 300 

Visits  5 322* 100 

 
* Covid19 had a significant impact on the 2020/21 workload  
 

82



5 
 

2.3 Health and safety   
 

PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2020/21 

Actual 
2020/21 

Estimated 
2021/22 

H&S 
interventions  

High risk premises  1 0 1 

Skin piercing  20 0 0 

Cooling tower 
registration 
renewal 

N/A 1 N/A 

 

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2020/21 

Actual 
2020/21 

Estimated 
2021/22 

General 
 

H&S inspections 10 0 10 

Revisits 10 2 10 

Advice 5 2 5 

Complaints 25 5 10 

Other requests 50 46 50 

Smoke free  3 1 3 

Skin Piercers 

Enquiries 30 50 30 

Complaints  1 0 1 

New skin piercing 
registrations  

30 28 30 

Accidents 

Reported 70 55 70 

Investigated  
(No visit) 

20 32 20 

Investigated (Visit) 10 2 10 

2.4 Private water supply regulation (PWS) 
 

 Estimated 
2020/21 

Actual     
2020/21 

Estimated 
2021/22 

Risk assessment visits  10 0 10 

Sampling visits  12 1 12 

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK 
30 9 20 

Service requests  

2.5 Enforcement during 2020/21 
 

Work Area Improvement Notice Voluntary 
Closure 

Prohibition 
Notice 

Simple 
Caution 

Prosecution 
completed 

Food 0 0 0 0 0 

H&S 5 (4 Covid19 related) N/A 
7 (all Covid19 

related) 
0 0 

PWS 0 N/A N/A 0 0 

83



6 
 

 

 

2.6 Variations from the 2020/21 Work Plan  
 
Covid19 Impacts  
In response to the pandemic, the FSA allowed derogations from the Food Law Code of 
Practice in respect of the nature and frequency of interventions in food businesses.  This was 
partly in recognition of the challenges local authorities were facing in delivering their statutory 
food functions whilst having to prioritise protecting communities from Covid19, but also 
reflected the changing business landscape, with many food businesses closing or changing 
operations. These changes enabled available resources to be targeted at the most high-risk 
establishments while planned interventions were deferred, particularly for low-risk premises. 
 
A significant amount of staff resource from the commercial team and wider Public Protection 
service was redeployed to contribute towards enforcing business restrictions and outbreak 
management within local settings and workplaces. This work is ongoing and there continues 
to be additional demands and expectations in relation to compliance and enforcement as 
sectors re-open and adjust to new ways of working.  Additional temporary contractor resource 
was bought into the team to support this work, although recruitment of suitably qualified 
officers has been a significant issue during this period. 
 
From December 2020 Covid Champions were deployed to support the service and carry out 
basic checks relating to covid19 compliance in a range of premise types.  This is ongoing 
through the recovery roadmap.    
 
The number of ‘new’ food businesses registering with the council significantly increased during 
this period, with a large proportion being home-based. While some may have never started 
trading, these businesses have been prioritised for intervention as the risks associated with 
them remain largely unknown until the initial inspection has been undertaken.  Other 
businesses have diversified and adapted, changed working practices or ownership, all of 
which increased workloads.  New business demand is expected to decrease into 2021/22, 
although reactive work is expected to increase as businesses restart – this is already 
noticeable in the first quarter of 2021. 
 
Premise closures due to the restrictions have resulted in a large number of outstanding routine 
food hygiene inspections. Combined with this, planned interventions now take longer and are 
more complex to undertake as they include a Covid19 compliance assessment and must be 
undertaken in a Covid19 safe way. 
 
Further guidance on the full restart of food hygiene interventions to enable work to realign with 
the Code of Practice has been received from the Food Standards Agency. Their ‘Local 
Authority Recovery’ provides for a risk-based approach that prioritises the inspection of new 
and higher risk businesses and interventions around new allergen labelling requirements for 
products pre-packed for direct sale that come in at the start of October 2021.   The plan has 
two phases and runs from 1 July 2021 to April 2023 and beyond.  
 
Fatal accident Investigation 
The investigation into a fatal accident at a moto-cross track, near Grantham has been 
completed.   The collision accident happened in June 2019 and has involved significant officer 
time as primacy for investigation was passed from the police to the council. The inquest is 
expected later this year.  

 
 

84



7 
 

Private Water Supply Regulation  
Plans to increase work in this area were delayed by the Covid19 response.  From May 2021, 
external support has been secured to complete 10 property supplies and risk assessments.  
This will also provide a training opportunity to support the team to complete the remaining 
assessments and sampling.  

3. Background 

3.1 Authority profile 
 
South Kesteven encompasses an area of 365 square miles with four main towns of   
Grantham, Stamford, Bourne and Market Deeping, alongside over 80 villages.  
 
The population of the district is currently estimated at 141,853 (ONS 2018 mid-year population 
estimates).  The overall population size is projected to increase to 161,400 by the year 2041.  
95% of the population is described as white ethnic.  

3.2 Organisational structure 
 
The Council consists of 56 Elected Members with a Conservative majority.  The Cabinet 
consists of 9 Members, with 1 Cabinet Member holding the portfolio for Commercial and 
Operations, this includes food hygiene and health and safety.  
 
The Environmental Health Service is delivered as part of the Council’s Commercial and 
Operations directorate. A new Senior management structure was approved in October 2020.  

 

3.3 Scope of the service 
 
The remit of the Commercial Team within the Environmental Health Services includes food 
hygiene, health and safety enforcement, infectious disease investigation and the regulation of 

Chief 
Executive

Director of 
Commercial 

and 
Operations

AD Operations 
& Public 

Protection 

East Midlands 
Building 
Control 
Manager

Street Scene 
Manager

Public 
Protection 
Manager 

Team Leader 
Commercial

Environmental 
Health Officers 

(1.8FTE)

Food, Health & 
Safety Officers 

(1FTE)

Technical 
Support 

Officer (1FTE)

Trainee Food, 
Health & 

Safety Officer 
(1FTE)

Environmental 
Protection & 

Private Sector 
Housing

Community 
Safety

Licensing

Deputy Chief 
Executive

Assistant Chief 
Executive

Director of 
Housing and 

Property

Director of 
Culture and 

Growth

85



8 
 

private water supplies. In 2020/21 this scope extended to Covid-19 business restriction work 
and related public health matters placing the service under unprecedented demands. 
 
Provision is made for external specialist services laboratory services: 
 

Provision Laboratory 

Food Examiner Public Health England Food, Water and Environmental 
Microbiology Laboratory, York 

Public Analyst Eurofins, Public Analyst Scientific Services, 
Wolverhampton 

Private water supply testing ALS Environmental Ltd, Coventry 

3.4 Accessing the service 
 
Customers may visit customer service centres in Grantham and Bourne (restrictions are in 
place due to Covid19).  Opening times and details of the emergency out of hours service are 
found on the Council’s website www.southkesteven.gov.uk/contactus   

3.5 Enforcement policy 
 
The Council is committed to the Principles of Good Enforcement and the Regulators’ Code.  
Enforcement will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Enforcement and 
Environmental Services Enforcement Policies.   The policy is published on the Council’s 
website http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8472 

4. Service Delivery 

4.1 Programmed work 
 
Food Hygiene 
 
Whilst it is primarily the responsibility of the food business to control risks and identify food 
hazards, food premises inspections aim to establish whether food is being handled and 
produced hygienically, assess the effectiveness of controls and identify contraventions.    All 
programmed food safety interventions are undertaken in accordance with the Food Law Code 
of Practice.   
 
Food premises will be visited during normal trading hours, however, due to the nature of some 
businesses this may be outside of normal office hours.  Prior notice of inspections is not 
normally given, although exceptions may be made for some premises in order that key 
personnel may be available.   
 
A range of interventions may be utilised in accordance with the Code of Practice.  These can 
be either official or unofficial controls. 
 
Official controls include: 

• Inspections 

• Monitoring 

• Surveillance 

• Verification 

86

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/contactus


9 
 

• Audits 

• Sampling 
 

Unofficial controls include: 

• Education 

• Advice 

• Coaching 

• Information and intelligence gathering 
 
The Council participates in the national food hygiene rating scheme in accordance with the 
FSA Brand Standard and ratings are displayed on the FSA website. 
 
Details of the programmed work for 2021/2022 are detailed in Appendix 1.   
 
Registered food businesses 
  
In accordance with Regulation EC 852/2004 all businesses that handle food must be 
registered with their local authority.  Premises in South Kesteven are categorised as follows: 
 

Food Premises Type Number 
2020/21 

Number 
2021/22 

% of 
total 

premises 
2021/22 

Primary producers 24 24 1.7 

Manufacturers and packers 46 51 3.5 

Importers and exporters 4 5 0.3 

Distributors and transporters 39 39 2.7 

Retailers 252 277 19.3 

Restaurants and caterers 960 1041 72.5 

Total 1325 1435  

 
Food hygiene interventions 
 
In accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice, at each intervention, a score is given to 
each business to determine the frequency of interventions.  The intervention rating is based 
on assessment of several elements: type of food and processing; number and type of 
consumers potentially at risk; current compliance; risk of contamination; confidence in 
management.  Category A businesses pose the highest risk and are inspected more 
frequently, Category E establishments pose the lowest risk and are subject to alternative 
interventions.  See Appendix 1 for further information.  
 
Businesses within the district are categorised as follows: 
 

Risk Category Minimum Inspection Frequency Number % 

A (Highest risk) At least every 6 months 0 0 

B At least every 12 months 38 2.5 

C At least every 18 months 213 15 

D  At least every 24 months 486 34 

E  Programme of alternative  
interventions every 3 years 

559 39 

Outside  69 4.7 

Not yet rated  70 4.8 

Total  1435  

87



10 
 

Food hygiene rating scheme (FHRS) 
The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) extends to businesses supplying food directly to 
consumers.  This includes restaurants, cafes, retailers and other places where people eat food 
outside of the home.   The overall aim of the scheme is to reduce the incidence of food borne 
illness and the associated costs of this to the economy.  From a local perspective, the scheme 
helps consumers to make informed choices about places they wish to eat or shop for food, 
and through this encourages businesses to improve hygiene standards.  Ratings are displayed 
on the Food Standards Agency website.  
 
In South Kesteven, 76% of food businesses are inside the scope of the scheme.   The rating 
depends on the overall level of compliance across three elements; food hygiene procedures, 
cleanliness and structural compliance and confidence in management.  There is currently a 
high level of compliance in the district, with 85% of food businesses reaching the maximum 
food hygiene rating of 5, and 98.6% achieving a rating of 3 or above. 
 
 

FHRS 
Rating 

Description Number % 

5 Very good 931 85.1 

4 Good 109 10 

3 Generally satisfactory 38 3.5 

2 Improvement necessary 14 1.3 

1 Major improvement necessary 2 0.1 

0 Urgent improvement 
necessary 

0 0 

 Total 1094  

 
Approved food premises 
Certain food premises involved in the production, handling and storage of products of animal 
origin must be approved under Regulation EC 853/2004.  This legislation requires compliance 
with more detailed hygiene requirements than for registered premises. 
 
Approved premises within the district are categorised as follows: 
 

Food Premises Type Number 

School caterer 4 

Cold store 5 

Poultry manufacturer 1 

Mechanically separated meat 
manufacturer 

1 

Biltong manufacturer 1 

Milk and Dairy Processor 1 

Total 13 

 
In addition, there are 4 further manufacturing premises which do not require ‘products of 
animal origin’ approval.   
 
Food sampling 
Food sampling is an important element of food safety enforcement, providing information 
about the microbiological safety of food which is available within the district. 
 
Sampling is undertaken in accordance with relevant guidance and may be taken during a 
routine inspection, in response to a complaint or as part of a national sampling programme.  

88



11 
 

Officers are expected to undertake a minimum of one sampling exercise per year to maintain 
competency. 

 
Health and Safety 
 
The Council is responsible for enforcing health and safety in approximately 2130 premises in 
the following categories: 
 

• Hotels, campsites and short stay accommodation 

• Residential care homes (in conjunction with the Care Quality Commission) 

• Catering, restaurants and bars 

• Leisure and cultural (e.g. cinemas, places of worship) 

• Offices 

• Retail shops 

• Warehouses 

• Consumer services (e.g. hairdressers, tattooists) 
 
Inspections are carried out in accordance with the Health and Safety Executive’s circular LAC 

67/2 (Rev 10) and National Priority Plans.  In practice this comprises programmed inspections 
of the highest risk workplaces alongside targeted projects.  This is in addition to risk-based 
interventions in response to reported accidents, complaints, dangerous occurrences and 
work-related diseases.  Estimated work for 2021/22 is detailed in section 2.3. 
 
Registered skin piercing establishments and piercers 
Both premises and individuals that carry out tattooing and body piercing are registered as 
follows. 
 

Premises Type Number % 

Semi-permanent make-up 45 34 

Cosmetic piercing 8 6 

Electrolysis 16 12 

Acupuncture 26 20 

Ear piercing 22 17 

Tattooist 15 11 

Total skin piercing premises 
registrations* 

132 
 

*Some premises carry out more than one skin piercing activity 
 

Individual Piercer Type Number % 

Semi-permanent make-up artist 49 18.2 

Cosmetic piercer 19 7 

Electrolysis practitioner 35 13.1 

Acupuncturist 46 17.2 

Ear piercer 49 18.2 

Tattooist 70 26.1 

Total  268  

 
Tattoo hygiene rating scheme  
The Tattoo Hygiene Rating Scheme (THRS) is a voluntary scheme and is supported by The 
Tattoo and Piercing Industry Union and the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health and 
delivered by local authorities.  Although tattooists must register as skin piercers, this voluntary 
scheme was introduced in 2015 to help customers make informed choices about the premises 

89



12 
 

they use for tattooing. Details are available on the Councils website at 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8926  

 
Private Water Supply Regulation 
Private water supplies may come from a variety of sources, including wells, springs, boreholes 
and streams.  Samples of the water are taken and analysed by an accredited laboratory 
against a range of parameters to determine the wholesomeness. Supplies are risk assessed 
to determine contributory factors that may affect water safety such as the proximity of farm 
animals to the supply or type of treatment system. 
 

Supply Type Number % 

Single domestic 28 54 

Multiple domestic (Reg 10) 5 10 

Commercial (Reg 9) 19 36 

Total Supplies 52  

 
In addition to the minimum legal sampling requirements, sampling on request is also 
undertaken.   Charges are made in accordance with the fees in Private Water Supplies 
(England) Regulations 2018.  

4.2 Non programmed work 
 

Re-visits  
Following an inspection, it may be necessary to carry out a re-visit after an appropriate time 
to check that matters have been attended to or check compliance with any enforcement 
notices.  Reasons for re-visits include: 
 

• The nature of the contravention is deemed so serious that if it was not addressed, 
formal action would need to be taken 

• The number of minor contraventions is excessive and indicative of poor management 
and/or little confidence in the management addressing the matters 

 
Service requests 
We aim to respond to all complaints and requests for service as soon as possible, but in any 
case, customers will be contacted within 5 working days. Complainants will be advised of the 
outcome of all complaints.  
 
Anonymous complaints will not usually be investigated unless there is concern about the 
nature of the complaint and/or premises history. 
 
Business owners/managers will be contacted about complaints relating to their premises 
and/or practices, usually by an unannounced visit. 
 

Business advice 
We acknowledge that most businesses want to comply with the law and the commercial team 
will provide advice and encourage best practice.  Free basic advice is provided to assist 
business in complying with the law.   
 
New business start-ups and existing businesses who want to improve their food hygiene rating 
can also access addition support which is chargeable on a cost recovery basis.  
 

 

90

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8926


13 
 

Food safety incidents 
Food safety alerts notify the public and food authorities of incidents concerning food which 
does not meet food safety or composition standards.  Alerts from the FSA are received by e-
mail which is monitored during office hours.  Any alert marked “for action” is referred to the 
Team Leader to determine the most appropriate course of action. 
 

Health and safety incidents 
Health and safety accidents and complaints are investigated in accordance with the Health 
and Safety Executive’s Incident Selection Criteria Guidance LAC 22/13 (Rev1). 
 

Investigation of outbreaks and infectious disease 
The team work closely with colleagues at Public Health England to identify, control and prevent 
the spread of infectious diseases, including Covid19.  
 
Notifications of infectious disease are investigated using the East Midlands Public Health 
England Protection Team’s Response to Gastrointestinal and Legionnaires’ disease Matrix. 
 
Complaints about suspected food poisoning are investigated in accordance with the infectious 
disease procedure for multiple cases and outbreaks.  

 
Primary/home/lead authority  
South Kesteven does not currently have any Primary, Home or Lead authority arrangements 
with businesses. 
 
However, as required by the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 (as amended) 
and s.67 and 68 of The Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, regard is given to the 
Primary Authority Principle when carrying out inspections, investigations and enforcement 
action for food safety and health and safety 
 
Businesses with a Primary Authority partnership are identified on the Environmental Health 
premises database. 
 

Liaison with other authorities  
In addition to working with other teams within the Council, officers liaise with other local 
authorities, agencies and organisations to facilitate consistent enforcement, share good 
practice and reduce duplication of effort.   These include: 
 

• Lincolnshire Environmental Health Managers Group 

• Lincolnshire Food Officers Group 

• Lincolnshire Health and Safety Officers Group 

• Kesteven Safety Advisory Group 

• Food Standards Agency (East Midlands, Yorkshire and Humber Region) 

• Health and Safety Executive (Nottingham Region) 

• Public Health England   
o East Midlands Health Protection Team 
o Food Water and Environmental Laboratories York  
o Public Health Laboratory, Birmingham 

• Lincolnshire County Council  
o Trading Standards 
o Fire and Rescue  
o Police 
o Highways and Planning 
o Public Health  

• Drinking Water Inspectorate 

91



14 
 

• Anglian Water 
 

Promotional Activities 
Education and awareness are key methods of encouraging high standards in businesses 
across the district and informing the public.  
 
FSA media campaigns are supported, promoting messages through press releases, the 
Council’s website and social media. 
 
The Council’s website is maintained with relevant information to assist businesses to comply 
with legislation.  During the Covid19 pandemic, a bespoke webpage was created providing 
resources and links to latest Government guidance.  
 
Press releases are issued following successful prosecutions to act as a deterrent to others 
and inform the public.  
 
 

4.3  Looking forward 2021/22 
 
Covid 19 
The response to the Covid19 pandemic is expected to continue into 2021/22. The 
commercial team will work to the FSA requirements for the recovery of planned interventions 
and other activities by local authorities at food establishments during the period from 1 July 
2021 through to 2023/24.  In particular, the plan aims to achieve the following: 

 

• To ensure that local authorities  
o return diverted resources to food teams; 
o can identify and focus on those businesses that are trading; 
o revert to the expected inspection frequencies in the Food Law Codes of 

Practice for those businesses posing the greatest risk to public 
health/consumer protection; and 

o identify where risks in low-risk establishments have changed through  
assessment of intelligence and information gathering as part of ongoing  
proactive surveillance. 

• To improve hygiene and standards compliance and reduce risks by focusing  
activity where non-compliance is identified and by undertaking appropriate  
follow-up and enforcement action. 

• To ensure more routine operation of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme  
(FHRS). 
 

   
Additional services  
A range of products and services which are discretionary and charged on a cost recovery 
basis will continue to be offered.  These include: 
 

• Food safety organisers 

• Safer Food Better Business packs 

• New food business advice consultations 

• Food hygiene check-up for existing business 

• On site staff training 
 
Businesses can access free information on the Council’s website and receive basic advice to 
ensure they comply with the law.  
 

92



15 
 

Health and Safety 
Proactive health and safety interventions will be undertaken in accordance with the Health and 
Safety Executive’s National Priority Inspection Areas priority inspection areas as detailed in 
LAC67-2.   
 
Healthy Eating 
The Healthier Options Award was launched in January 2019.  To date, 4 businesses met the 
criteria with other applications in progress. The scheme is hosted by Lincolnshire County 
Council will all Lincolnshire local authorities participating. Food businesses with a Food 
Hygiene Rating Scheme score of 3 or above will be eligible to apply for the award providing 
they pledge to provide a range of healthy choices on their menu.  Covid19 has impacted on 
the growth of this scheme which will be reviewed in 2021.  
 
EU Exit 
Appropriately qualified Officers have been registered as Food Competent Certifying Officers 
(FCCOs) to issue Export Health Certificates (EHC) for certain products of animal origin 
exported to the EU. 
 
During 2020-21 the number of requests for export declarations (for non-products of animal 
origin) has reduced on previous years, this is likely to be because of Covid19 and it is 
anticipated this will increase in the coming year.  This non-statutory service is chargeable. 

5. Resources 

5.1 Financial 
 
The cost of providing the Commercial Service is detailed by area: 
 

Discipline Budget 2021/21 Budget 2021/22 

Food safety 229,240  229,273  

Health and Safety 111,564  108,829  

Water quality 32,517  31,438  

Infectious Diseases 41,305  40,298 

Total 414,626  410,538 

 
The service is resourced sufficiently to operate in the absence of exceptional events or 
demands.  

5.2 Staffing allocation  
 
The staff allocation work for 2021/22 is: 
 
Team Leader 1 FTE 
Environmental Health Officers 1.8FTE 
Technical Officer 1FTE  
Trainee Technical Officer 1FTE 
Technical Support Officer 1FTE  
 
The Lead Officer function required by the Food Law Code of Practice is undertaken by the 
Commercial Team Leader. 
 

93



16 
 

EHOs hold the BSc or MSc Environmental Health and are Authorised Officers, competent to 
carry out all levels of official and non-official controls, enforcement for food safety and 
undertake inspections of all approved food premises. 
 
TOs hold the Higher Certificate in Food Premises Inspection and Food Control and are 
Authorised Officers with restrictions relating to premises closure and seizure and detention of 
foodstuffs.    
 
The TSO acts as a Regulatory Support Officer, supporting the work of the Authorised Officers. 
 
EHOs and TOs are competent to undertake the full range of health and safety enforcement 
activities and infectious disease investigation and enforcement. 
 
Additional support may be provided through agency EHOs as necessary to meet demands.  

5.3 Staff training and development 
 
All officers are trained to a level commensurate with the work they undertake.  They receive 
an annual Personal Development Review and regular one to one meetings.  During this 
process consideration is given to Continual Professional Development (CPD) requirements 
for each area of work. 
 
The Food Law Code of Practice requires that local authorities ensure that authorised officers 
receive relevant structured ongoing training.  The minimum requirement is 20 hours CPD per 
year, of which 10 hours must be on core food matters.  Training is provided through short 
courses, e-learning, in house training, cascade training, team meetings and self-learning.    

5.4 Quality assessment 
 
The Team Leader undertakes random checks of post inspection risk scores and database 
entries and authorises alterations to risk ratings or FHRS scores have increased/decreased 
dramatically.  Officers are accompanied on selected visits and participate in consistency 
exercises. 
 
A data cleansing exercise is undertaken annually to comply with the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the Council’s data retention policy as well as the General Data Protection Regulations.

94



 
 

Appendix 1 Programmed food safety intervention work for 2021/2022 

Risk 
category 

Intervention 
frequency 
(months) 

Minimum intervention 
permitted 

OFFICIAL 
CONTROLS 
Inspections 

(High/medium 
risk) 

ALTERNATIVE 
INTERVENTIONS 

Enforcement 
interventions 

(Low risk) 

Comments 

A 6 Official controls 0  N/A High risk premises 
Many of these businesses will be “broadly uncompliant” 
and require addition officer time to rectify. 
May have intrinsic high risks associated with the type of 
food activity and/or poor compliance   
 
 

B 12 Official controls 38  N/A 

C 18 Official controls 141  N/A 

D 24 
Alternates between official 

controls and alternative 
interventions 

 
302  

Medium risk premises 
Premises that prepare, cook or handle open high-risk food 
or manufacture or re-wrap high risk foods will be visited 
each time.   All others receive alternate interventions 

E 36 Alternative interventions  268  

Low risk premises 
Premises that are low or minimal risk. Selling low risk food 
or not handling open food.  Business with significant 
changes or subject to complaints will be visited 

Outside  36 Alternative interventions N/A N/A  

Not yet rated 
Within 28 
days of 

registration 
Official controls 61 N/A 

Initial inspections of new food establishments which 
should normally take place within 28 days of registration or 
from aware of operation (as at 11 May 2020) 

Outstanding 
Inspections 

from 
2020/2021 

 

Official controls and/or 
alternative interventions 
dependent on business 

type 

299  
Outstanding inspections due to impacts of the Covid19 
pandemic prioritised for 2021/22 (in accordance with the 
FSA recovery plan) 

 

95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2021/22 

WORK PROGRAMME 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP – 7 

REPORT TITLE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COMMITTEE 

HISTORY DATE(S) 
CORPORATE/ 

PRIORITY 

Tuesday 28 September 2021 

Update on tree planting 
ambitions 

To provide an overview of tree planting activities within 
South Kesteven.  Update and sets out options in relation to 
the ambitions that emerged from the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee discussion on the 8 June 2021 
Report author/Lead Director: 
Serena Brown (Sustainability and Climate Change 
Officer) 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial and Operations) 

Added by the Committee 
at the meeting held on 8 
June 2021. 

A clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Climate & Carbon 
dashboard 2020/21 
  

 

To note the contents of the annual summary of South 
Kesteven District Council’s reported carbon footprint for 
2020/21 
Report author/Lead Director: 
Serena Brown (Sustainability and Climate Change 
Officer) 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial and Operations) 

Annual reporting following 
the Council formal 
declaration of a climate 
emergency in 2019. 

A clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Annual Climate report To consider the Climate & Carbon dashboard 2020/21 
Report author/Lead Director: 
Serena Brown (Sustainability and Climate Change 
Officer) 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial and Operations) 

Added by the Committee 
at the meeting held on 8 
June 2021. 

A clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Health and Safety Policy Updated policy ensures compliance with the Council’s legal 
duties and covers the period 2021-23. The Council’s Health 
and Safety Policy is its statement of intent and commitment 
to managing any risk that may arise from its undertakings. 
Report author/Lead Director: 

Requirement to review as 
part of the Committee’s 
remit. 

A high performing 
Council 

97

A
genda Item

 12



 
 

REPORT TITLE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COMMITTEE 

HISTORY DATE(S) 
CORPORATE/ 

PRIORITY 

Philip Swinton, Health and Safety, Emergency Planning 
and Business Continuity Lead 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial and Operations) 

Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme 
update 

This report provides an update on the Council’s work on the 
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme grant funding offer. 
Report author/Lead Director: 
Serena Brown (Sustainability and Climate Change 
Officer) 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial and Operations) 

Regular updates 
requested by the 
Committee. 

A clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Work Plan for Food and 
Health and Safety 
Enforcement 2021-22 

This report presents the Work Plan for Food and Health 
and Safety Enforcement for 2021-22, Members to note.  
Report author/Lead Director: 
Javier Garcia (Interim Public Protection Manager)   
Anne-Marie Coulthard (Assistant Director, Operations 
and Public Protection)   

Annual requirement to 
consult Scrutiny.  

A clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Tuesday 30 November 2021 

Street trading policy and 
Street collection policy 

To consider and comment on Street Trading and Collection 
Report author/Lead Director: TBC 
 

Requirement to review as 
part of the Committee’s 
remit. 

Growth and the 
economy 

Tuesday 8 March 2022 

    

Tuesday 10 May 2022 

    

 

98



 
 

Unscheduled items 

Dashboard Key 
Performance Indicators 
– Q2/Q3/Q4 

Update of Key Performance Indicators and 
targets to note progress against KPIs. 
Report author/Lead Director: 
Ben Russell/Ken Lyon 

To consider which areas have poor or 
good performance and to make 
recommendations for improvement or 
for continued success 

High 
performing 
council 

Air Quality Report Committee to contribute to the Action Plan 
Report author/Lead Director: 
Ann-Marie Coulthard 

 
 

Blue/Green Corridor -
update 

Update on the Queen Elizabeth Park wetland 
project.  
Report author/Lead Director: 
Gary Smith  

 

 

Street Trading Consent 
Policy 

Report author/Lead Director: 
Ann-Marie Coulthard 

 
 

Flooding - update Working with Partners to prevent flooding in 
SKDC  
Report author/Lead Director: 
Gary Smith/Anne-Marie Coulthard 

 

 

Progress on the Depot 
Project  

Report author/Lead Director: 
Gary Smith 

 
 

Work of TeamSK – 
Street Scene over the 
duration of the 
Pandemic 

Report author/Lead Director: 
Gary Smith/Anne-Marie Coulthard 
 
 

 

 

Bourne cycling festival 
update 

 Added by the Committee at the 
meeting held on 8 June 2021. 

 

Biodiversity in council 
parks and looking at 
the use of contractors 
in relation to this 

 Added by the Committee at the 
meeting held on 8 June 2021 

 

 

99



 
 

The remit of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the development of 
policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 

• Air Quality 

• Alcohol, entertainment and leisure licensing (Policy)  

• Allotments 

• Animal Welfare licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305) 

• Business Trade & Licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063) 

• Commercial, Industrial and Clinical Waste Collection and Management 

• Dog breeding & control orders 

• Domestic Waste & Recycling Management 

• Energy Efficiency 

• Estate and Grounds Maintenance 

• Flooding 

• Food Hygiene and Safety 

• Gambling & Lotteries licensing (Policy) http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0 (2020 policy due for review 
January 2022) 

• Health & Safety 

• Noise 

• Public Conveniences 

• Renewable Energy 

• Scrap Metal Dealers 

• Street Lighting 

• Street Services and Green Open Space Management 

• Tattoo, licensing and hygiene rating system (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317) 

• Taxi & private vehicle, driver and operator licensing (Policy)  

• Wild animal licensing (Policy) (no local policy. https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal) 

100

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=27433&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=27785&p=0
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal

	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 8 June 2021
	5 Updates from the previous meeting
	6 Update on tree planting ambitions
	Appendix A: Outlined SKDC managed sites including tree planting proposals

	7 Climate & Carbon dashboard 2020/21
	Appendix - Climate and carbon dashboard for 2020/21

	8 Climate Matters annual report
	Appendix - Climate Matters 2021 annual draft report

	9 Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme update
	10 Health and Safety Policy
	Appendix - Health and Safety Policy

	11 Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement 2021-22
	Appendix 1 - Workplan 2021-22

	12 Work Programme

